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Judge Richard Fitzgerald Interview Abstract

This interview was conducted as part of the Cook County Oral History Project supervised
by Dr. Christopher Manning of Loyola University Chicago. The interviews were '
conducted by graduate students for the course, “Oral History — Methods and Practice.”

The goal of the project is to provide insight into the workings of the judiciary by

conducting a series of interviews with both retired and sitting Cook County Circuit Court

judges.

At the time of the interview, Judge Richard Fitzgerald had been retired for 14 years (he
retired in 1991), having served as a judge in the Cook County Court System for 27 years,
15 years as Presiding Judge in the Criminal Court Division. In the interview, Fitzgerald
discusses his childhood, as well as his college education and law school experiences. The
majority of the interview is focused specifically on the mechanics of how he became a
judge, and his career: his early days in private practice and as a city attorney; his
experiences while briefly sitting in the Divorce Court Division; his years in the Criminal
Courts as a {rial judge; and his seventeen-year tenure as Presiding Judge of the Cook
County Criminal Courts. Fitzgerald’s accomplishments during his tenure as Presiding
Judge include the creation of a sentencing guideline matrix (used as a model for the State
of Nlinois mandatory sentencing guidelines subsequently enacted); a repeat offenders
program that significantly reduced the backlog of pending trials for career criminals; and

" the installation of a computer program for case assignment. General thematic issues
include: personal motivation, politics, corruption, the effect of the so-called “War On
Drugs” on the criminal courts system, and the death penalty. Fitzgerald also recounts

. many colorful anecdotes from his years on the bench.




Biography

Judge Richard Fitzgerald was born in January 1914 in Hammond, Indiana. Fitzgerald
lived in Hammond for the first 12 years of his life until his family moved across the state
line to Calumet City, Iilinois. In Calumet City Fitzgerald continued his education at St.
Victor’s Catholic School and then at Thornton Fractional High School. Upon graduation
from high school, Fitzgerald earned an athletic scholarship to Saint Louis University. At
Saint Louis University, Fitzgerald played football while he completed his studies in pre-
law and Jaw. After finishing his schooling in Saint Louis, he returned to the Chicago area
to care for his ailing father and then take the Illinois Bar exam. However, before he
could begin practicing law, World War II broke out and he enlisted in the United States
Navy to work as a communication officet.

After the war, Judge Fitzgerald started his law career as a city aftorney for Calumet City
and Lemont while he maintained a private practice. About twenty years later, he ran for
election for the Cook County Circuit Court. Fitzgerald won his first election unopposed
and did not lose an election thereafter. For his first ten years on the bench, he heard cases
in the criminal division, and he then earned his appointment as presiding judge.
Fitzgerald served as presiding judge of the criminal division for the next 17 years until
his retirement in 1991.

After retiring from the bench, Judge Fitzgerald worked briefly at Winston & Strawn, an
international law firm based in Chicago, retiring from the firm in 1993. He currently
lives in South Holland, Illinois.



Introduction

Two Loyola University Chicago graduate students, Liz Trantowski and Lisa Davis,
interviewed Judge Richard Fitzgerald in his home in South Holland, Illinois, for
approximately three hours on Saturday, October 14, 2006. They were accompanied by
Judge Ted Swain.

In the transcript, the speakers are identified by their initials:
LT: Liz Trantowski
LD: Lisa Davis
RF: Richard Fitzgerald
TS: Ted Swain

As the digital recorder was turned on and off scveral times during the course of the
interview, there are three audio files. The transcript indicates the beginning and end of
each audio file as the time stamps correspond to those particular audio files.

Before the interview began, Liz Trantowski gathered biographical information and
explained the legal forms to Judge Fitzgerald. The transcript does not include this
conversation as the reader may find this information on the biographical information
sheet.

Tor editing purposes, the transcribers used (...) to indicate that the speaker had trailed off
or did not finish the sentence. Also, the transcribers used hyphens (--) to show the
speaker being interrupted and when the speaker finished his or her thought after the
interruption. ‘



(4:35) .
LT: The first question 1 have is where did you grow up? And you mentioned that you
were born in Hammond, Indiana. Did you grow up there as well?

RF: I was in Hammond until [ was about oh, maybe 12 years old. And my family moved
out from Chicago. My uncle was the owner of the Hammond Distillery. And so my
father came out to Hammond from Chicago. And then I left Hammond, came over to
Calumet City. So I lived in Calumet City practically most of my life. Went to school in
Calumet City. And that was about it. And I moved here after I got married and moved to
Calumet City and then over to South Holland.

g‘?%kay. So you said that you lived in Calumet City really most of your life, did you
live in the same house in Calumet City when you were a young man?

RF: My family, yeah.

LT: Your family?

RFT: Right next to the golf course.

LT: Okay.

RF: So yeah, did a lot of caddying.

(5:53) _
LT: What was your family like? You said your dad worked for your uncle.

RF: He worked at the Hammond Distillery.

LT Mmm-hmm.

RF: He ended up as a bailiff in the courts in Chicago. My mother was very active in
women’s clubs and so forth. I had two brothers. One went to Purdue, and the other went
to Illinois. My son went to Illinois and played football at the, at Illinois. Went to the
Rose Bowl.

LT: Oh, wow. (laughs)

RF: So we had quite a fiesta out there in California.

LT: Where...? Oh, I’m sorry, continue.

RF: And Illinois happened to win, thank God.



LT: Yeah!
(Laughter) .,

(6:38)
TS: Which year was that? They’ve only been there three times.

RE: Let’s see, that’d be *64. Gad, [ don’t know, ‘66.

TS: It was something like... Yeah, I remember...

RE: "68...

TS: Somewhere in the *60s.

RF: Dates don’t mean a thing to me anymore. When you hit 92, hell—
(Laughter)

RF: --you don’t even remember your OWN name.

LT: Right.

(Laughter)

(7:00)

LT: You said that your mother was involved in a lot of women’s clubs, Do you

remember any of the names of them that she was involved in?

RF: One was the Hammond Women’s Club. And I guess that was the biggest one. She-
was pretty active with those people.

(7:16)

LT: And your brothers, you mentioned those nniversities that they went to, were your
brothers older or younger than you?

RF: | had one older brother who went to Purdue.

LT: Okay.

RF: He was an engineer, Ended up working for DuPont. My younger brother went to as
1 say, he went to Ilinois, Washington, St. Louis, he was all over.

LT: He was all over?



RF: He was a renegade. Ended up out in California. Went into the Marine Corps, and
they kicked him out.

(Laughter) |

RF: If you can’t make your way in the Marine Corps, by God, you had to be a real
renegade.

(Laughter)
RF: He was a character. But, he was a good guy, though.

(8:04)
LD: In the neighborhood whete. .. what was the neighborhood like where you grew up?
You said you were next to a golf course. Was it middle class?

RF; Middle class.
LD: Upper middle class possibly?
RE: Yeah, I would say upper middle class. Yeah.

(8:20)
LD: Mmm-hmm. Was it... Were there a lot of families living in the neighborhood--

RF: Very definitely. It was very heavily populated. It was around a golf course. We
were about maybe 100 yards from the golf course. So we used to sneak over there and
play golf at night.

(Langhter)
RF: And caddied, of course.

(8:51)
LD: Mmm-hmm. What about your experiences caddying? I know that my son caddied
when he was younger and he has some great stories to tell.

RF: We uh... I remember Walter Hagen came out there to, on an exhibition one year, I
don’t recall what year. And ... But, I used to caddy for a doctor who was left-hander.
And, he would always ask for me whenever he came out I caddied for him. He asked me
one day, he says, he was a lefthander, and he had, he says, “I’'m in the process of buying
some new clubs. Do you play left handed?” I figured, what the hell, if I could get some
clubs. : ' '

LT: Yeah!



(Laughter)

RF: Sure. He gave me these golf clubs and I played left-handed for a coﬁple of years.
LT: Free set of golf clubs.

(Laughter)

RF: Free set of golf clﬁbs, yeah.

- (9:48)
LT: Was it a public golf course? Orwasita --

RF: It was private.

LT: Do you remember the name of it?
RF: Hammond Country Club.

LT: The Hammond Country Club.

RF: Yeah.

(9:57)

LT: So that was before you moved to Calumet City, that’s when you were 11v1ng in
Hammond you lived by the golf course?

RF: No. In Calumet City.

LT: Okay.

RF: The golf course was in Calumet City.

LT: Oh, okay.

RF: State line was here. And just a hundred yards away was Calumet City.
LT: Oh, okay. Tunderstand.
RF: But they called it the Hammond Country Club.

(10:15)
LT: It was the Hammond Country Club.

RF: Yeah.




LT

RF

: So it was for members only.

: Yeah, A lot of Polish kids.

(10:24)

LT

LD

: A lot of Polish kids?

: That was my next question.

(10:27)

RF: It was predominantly Polish. And to this day I know every Polish bad word in the

dictionary.

(Laughter)

RF

: I can recite them verbatim.

TS: You’re being recorded.

(Laughter)

RF

: I won’t use any of them.

(Laughter)

TS: Twouldn't know

LT

: 1 don’t speak Polish, so...

LD: (indecipherable)

(10:53) -

LT
RF
LT
RF
LT
RF

LT

: So is your family of Polish descent at all? Fitzgerald doesn’t sound very Polish.
: Irish.

: Irish.

: My mother was born in Ireland and my father was born in Chicago.

:-So what was it like being an Irish family in the midst of all these Polish kids?

: Oh, I mean we got along real good. |

! Yeah?

10



RF: Yeah. They treated me royally. And I just got along with them real well. And... so
it was, it was a happy summer every year. We never had a car. And we walked. Walked
to school, walked to church, walked downtown. So as a result, we developed legs.
(Laughter)

RF: And I went... ended up going down to Saint Louis University. On a football
scholarship. Back in 1932 it was still the Depression. My brother was going to Purdue.
My father sent him to Purdue so he couldn’t send both of us to college. ButI gota
football scholarship down at Saint Louis, So I got my board and room and Bull Durham
down there until I got out of law school.

(12:14)
L'T: What position did you play on the football team?

RF: The end.

LT: The end?

RF: Yeah.

RF: I was captain my last year.

LT: You were captain?

RF: Yeah, so I fooled a lot of people a lot of times.

(Laughter)

(12:26)

LT: You mentioned that you were able to walk to school and to walk to church. Do you
remember the name of your school back when you were a kid?
RF: Well, I went to St. Victor’s Catholic school.

LT: Okay.

RF: (coughs) And Thornton Fractional High School.

LT: Thornton. And did you go to St. Victor’s for K through 8? For first grade through
eighth grade?

RF: Originally, for the first six years, I went to All Saints in Hammond.

LT: Okay.

11



RF: And then we moved to Calumet City. And we went to St. Victor’s.

(12:59)  +
LT: And was that the name of your parish, too? Was the church attached to the parish?

RF: St. Victor’s, yeah. Seventh and eighth grade. Then I went to high school in Calumet
City. ‘

(13:10)
1.D: Did all of the families go to that church or was there a division between the Polish
families and the Irish families?

RI: Most of the Polish families went to St. Andrew’s which was the Polish churcﬁ. St
Victor's was the other church,

(13:28)
LT: Was it Irish and other ethnicities?

RF: Pretty mixed.

LT: Pretty mixed, pretty mixed.

RF: Yeah.

(13:36)

LT: Were the Polish kids that you grew up with, were a lot of them from Poland or had
their parents been born in Poland?

RF: Parents, primarily~-

LT: Parents.

RY: --born. Yeah. Came over. They all spdke Polish, but they, I mean, they spoke
English 99% of the time. The only time they spoke Polish when they were cursing us.

(Laughter)
LT: And that’s how you learned your Polish words,
REFE: Yeah.

(14:10) | |
L.D: Did you all go to school together? You went to separate churches--

" RF: Separate church and school.

12



LD: Oh, separate school as well.

RF: Most of those kids went to St. Andrew’s which was a predominantlj'/ Polish church.
And... so we didn’t...we only saw them in the summertime.

(14:32)
LT: You mentioned that your father was a bailiff in the courts What were the

professions of a lot the other men in the neighborhood? Do you remember any of them?
What they did?

RF: Well, there was a doctor lived across the street. And another fellow was in the meat
packing business. And the fellow next door to us was an engineer. And, the other fellow
had a (indecipherable) company. .. it was a ... Gosh, they made medical supplies and he
owned that. And, so it was actually a rather semi-affluent neighborhood.

LT: Mmm-hmm. Mmm-hmm. Lot of mix of professions.

RF: Yeah.

(15:31)
LD: Do we want to go on to high school?

LT: Yeah, sure.

(15:35)
LD: You apparently played football in high school—

RF: Yeah.

LD: --since you went to college (indecipherable) on a football scholarship. What other
kind of memorable events do you have from your high school days?

RF: I played football, basketball, track.
LT: Wow.

{15:56)
RT: And, I was in the school play. Applesauce was the name of the play.

(La,ughter)

RF: I'll never forget it. In fact, I was looking at the old chronoscope the other day. 1
was on the golf team. So we kept pretty busy.

(16:17)
. LT: Do you remember the role you played in Applesauce?

13



RF: 1 was th¢ lead.

LT: The le;d?

RF: Yeah. It was a guy who was doing a lot of BS-ing.
(Laughter)

RF: They called it Applesauce. And that was the name of the play. It was quite an
undertaking.

(16:39)
LT; You, obviously since you went to Saint Louis on a football scholarship, was that
your favorite sport or was that the one you excelled at the most?

RF: 1, that’s all I played down there was football. When I played, when I got out of there,
finished my football at St. Louis, they had a, the old American league down there was the
St. Louis Gunners. And I played with them two years.

LT: Oh you did?

RF: Yeah. Got $75 a game. Trying to spend $75 in a week was one hell of an
undertaking.

(Laughter)

RF: Drank a lot of beer.

L'T: Yeah!

(Laughter)

RF: But that was a great experience. And my last year I also coached ends. Icouldn’t
play football after my four years so I coached ends the last year and they gave me the
scholarship for the fifth year. Because the law school was three years of law, two years
of pre-law.

(17:48)

LT: So was it a combined law program then that you dld at Saint Louis University, it
sounds like? You did two years of pre-law, and then three years of law?

RF: Three years of law.

LT: So, it’s five years total of school there?

14
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RF: Yeah.

LT: Okay, okay.

(17:59)

LT: Did you know from the beginning when you started at St. Louis that’s what you
wanted to do?

(18:03)

RF: Yeah, Ihad a civics teacher who was studying law at night and he and 1 were very
close. He sort of enticed me to get into the law profession. 1'd liked to have gone into
medicine but hell, T wasn’t smart enough to be a doctor, so I became a lawyer.

{Laughter)

(18:26)
LT: Was this civics teacher from your high school?

RF: Yeah.

(18:29)
LT: Do you remember his name?

RF: Ahbhh....

LT: Just out of curiosity.

RF: God. What... ] was thinking it was Lamka. Buf it isn’t Lamka. 1t’ll come.
LT: Okay.

RF: He was a great guy. And....Can’t think of it now. It’ll come.

LT: Yeah?

RF: Maybe.

(18:55)
LT: So his ¢lass was really influential to you when you were in high school?

RE: Yeah, yeah.

(19:00) :
LT: Was it because he was a good teacher or you had a good relationship with him or--

RF: Iihink a combination.
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LT: Mmm-hmm.

RF: Yeah. He was ... T don’t know whatever happened to him. But he did become a
lawyer, I know. And... But after I got out of school, I... you know you forget these
people. ;

LT: Right, right.
(19:25)

LD: While you were in college, you said it was during the Depression, did you feel any
of the effects of the Depression yourself?

RF: (coughs)

LD: Because of your scholarship and your being in college, were you sort of insulated
from--

RF: Yeah. We got our board, room and tuition. And, back in those days, I mean, if you
had five dollars in your pocket you were ... we used to also get a job as professional
palibearers.

LT: Oh really? (laughs)

RF: There was an alumnus down there that had a funeral parlor. And sometimes the
wealthy people didn’t want to impose upon their people. So they’d call the university.
So they’d get six football players and we’d get five dollars for being professional
pallbearers.

(Laughter)

LT: Never heard of that before.

RF: So five dollars went a hell of a long way back in the 30s.

LD: Absolutely. (laughs)

RF: Yeah, so we... no, we never wanted for anything. Down there we got a 25 ounce of
beer for 15 cents. So, as I say, it was a place in heaven. So, we had great times.

(20:42)

LT: Did any of your friends from the neighborhood or from the high school go to Saint
Louis also or were you the only one from your neighborhood?

RF: One fellow from Hammond. Roomed with me for awhile. Fellow by the name of
Montevino. He went to St. Louis. He was a center. Good, good ball player. Very close

16



to me. Of course the other fellows lived in the house with us. It was an old broken down
mansion and all the football players stayed there. The... back in the 30s the NCAA sort
of put a limitation on the number of scholarships Saint Louis could have. So you had to
have a member of the alumni put you under his care and take care of your board and
room. And my guy was Bob Hannegan who ended up being the secretary of the postal, [
think he was the postmaster under Roosevelt. And back in 1932 when Roosevelt ran for
the presidency why, Bob was my sponsor, he had me go out and do a little ghost voting.

(Laughter)

(22:15)

RF: Eighteen years old. Tremember the one time I went down into this basement to
vote. The fellow says, “What’s your name?” I said, “Casey.” He said, “Goddamm it,
Casey,” he says, “you look great for 85.

(Laughter)

(22:32)
RF: “Get in there and vote.”

(Laughter)

RF: So I voted for Roosevelt under the name of Casey. I left that place, we went to
‘another precinct. The guy looked at me and he says, “Jesus,” he says, “if I could be as
young-looking as you, Frank, after being 88 years old.” : '
{Laughter)

RF: So he says, “Get in there and vote, hurry up, and get the hell out of here.” So when |
was a freshman in college 1 was voting for Roosevelt.

LT: Several times?

(23:07)
RF: Yeah. I’ll never forget Bob Hannegan. He was quite a (indecipherable).

(23:13)
LT: So he was an alumnus who took care of your room and board?

REF: For one year.
* LT: For one year.
RF: Yeah.

(23:17)

17



LT: Were you acquéinted with him before you went to college?

RF:No. . °

LT: No? He just...

R¥: He was assigned to us.

LT: Okay.

RF: Each one of the football players had an alumnus took care of you. I think afier six
or nine months they lifted the ban and the school took care of us and our own place to
live. In those days it was $30 a month for your board and room. $125 tuition. God, what
it is now!

LT: Yeah! (laughs)

(23:53)
TS: Did you have a winning season?

RF: Yeah, yeah we did. We won the Missouri Valley conference that year, my senior
year. And we, we had some good football players. Some fellows went to the ... Our guy
who was the center, Red Krause, went to the Washington Redskins. And, Carl Kane
went to Philadelphia Eagles. And, so we had some good kids.

 (24:28)

LT: Did you keep in touch with any of your friends from St. Louis or from the football
team for a long time?

RF: Carl Kane. I was his best man. When he, went out to (indecipherable), New
Jersey... Ruth and I used to go out there, see him. He was a troublemaker.

(Laughter)

RF: Stories not fit to be printed, I’ll tell you.
(Laughter)

RF: Those I’ll live and die with.

(Laughter)

(25:01)

LT: And you mentioned that you lived in a run-down house Was that just for one year
or was that all five years you were there?

18



RF: It was a big old mansion. It had all the earmarks of an 1890 mansion. Had almost
seven or eight bedrooms. And we... and there was an old professor who lived
downstairs, ‘He was sort of the overseer. Guys gave him a bad time.

(Laughter)

RF: We were up on the second floor, and he was down on the first floor. And they used
to take a little tin ball and run it down the stairs. And it’d go, clump, clump, clump.

(Laughter)

RF: He’d come out and he’d éay, “Cut that stuff out!” Anything to agitate the professor.
(Laughter)

RF: But he was, he was a good ‘ol guy.

(25:58)
LT: And how many other guys were in the house with you?

RF: I think there were about... 12. Twelve of us in one house. Then of course after that
we ended up in room, boarding houses.

I.T: Okay. When the university started taking care of you?

RF: Yeah, yeah, that was high class living then. We were at the boarding house. Now
the campus at St. Louis is... God Almighty, I just got a brochure.

(Laughter)

RF: God, it goes all over the place. When I was down there, it was just... One block
would take care of everything. But... it’s ... the old Jebbies took good care of us.
And...but, we had a lot, a lot of fun.

(260:54) '

LD: Did they have a big legal program at St. Louis when you were down there? Were

there a lot of students in that program with you?

RF: Oh I think we had, probably in each class not more than 30. Thirty students. One
girl. She was from Belleville.

TS: What year was this?
RF: Back in *34, ‘35, She...Smart as hell.

- @7:59)
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LD: Did you tend to include her in your group or because of the time that it was, was she
kind of pushed to the side?

RF: She was very acceptable to the school, but socially, why, she didn’t have too much to
do with the students. Very nice. Lovely person. She ended up practicing in Belleville.
So, we had the usual courses, you know. The... oh, everything they teach now I guess.
Coutse I’m an honors student from John Marshall, you know. I got an honorary degree
from John Marshall. And I gave their commencement address one year. So you see how
it’s going up since I got the hell out of there.

(Laughter)
RF: They were very nice. And, [ don’t know what the hell I said at the commencement.

(Laughter)

RY: They didn’t boo. So, I got by, anyway.

TS: It was a success.

RF: Yeah.

LD: What year was that?

RF: Oh God, I don’t know. Just look at the plaque downstairs.
LT: Okay. We’ll look at that.

RF: Look at it.

(28:57)

L.T: When you were, you went on this accelerated program at Saint Louis University,
was that normal! then? Tnstead of doing four years of college and then doing three years
of law school? Because your program sounds unusual, at least today.

RF: Yeah, it’s two years of pre and three law.

LT: Okay. That was normal back then.

RY¥: Yeah. Mmm-hmm.

LT: Okay, okay.

RF: Yeah.

(29:18)
LT: And then when you graduated did you take the bar right away?
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RF: No, I came up here. My father was real sick. And, so I left St. Louis after I got out
of school, and came back to Chicago. And, I waited a year and after my father passed
away I took the bar in [llinois. And... snuck through.

(Laughter)

(29:55)
RF: But... then, I went into the Navy shortly after that. And, spent a couple of years in
the South Pacific. Communication officer. And...

(30:10)
TS: On a ship?

RE: No, I was land-based. What we would do is...take... I spent most of my time in the
Philippines and the, Hollandia which was New Guinea. And we would go in and after
they would take the island, we would go in and set up a communications center. And
then we would stay there for maybe six months and go on to another island. So we...
spent a lot of time in the Philippines. (indecipherable) All those places. So, then when I
came back, I ran into the mayor of Calumet City as I was going to, to sign out of the
Navy and pick up my last check. And he asked me what [ was doing. I said, “Well, I
just finished my stint in the Navy. [’'m going to probably start practicing law.” He said,
“Well how would you like to be the city attorney of Calumet City?” I says, “Well, gee,
yes,” .

(Laughter)

(31:28)

RF: Pays $125 amonth. And he said, “We’ll get you an office across the street.” So
that set me on. Then I started to represent school districts. I represented the high school
district, two or three grade school districts. 1 was a city attorney out in Lemont. And, so
I represented about five or six school districts. And, every time we had a bond issue, why
of course, you got two percent of the bond issue. So those were very very very very
[uxurious--

T8: Days.
(Laughter)
RF: --days. And...

(32:15)
TS: You were married by then.
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RF: Yeah, yeah. We ...I was pretty lucky in the law business. 1 became the Democratic
committeeman out in Thornton township. [ was a very close friend of Mayor Daley’s.
And. . 40 7

(32:34)
TS: That’s THE Mayor Daley.

LT: Right, right, right. We figured.
(Laughter)

RF: Yeah.

LT: The older one.

(32:41)
RF: He helped me get on the bench.

(32:46)
LT: Just going back to your World War II days, do you remember what year it was that
you enlisted in the Navy? Or approximately?

RE: Ummm.... Let’s see...Forty... *43 I think.

LT: 437 And then did you stay there until the end of the war?

RF: Yeah,

(33:09)

LT: And you mentioned that you ran into the mayor of Calumet City, were you
acquainted with him before?

RF: Yeah, I knew him before. And, when I was in the Philippines, walking down the
sireet, and I saw this guy. He looked familiar as hell. And T said, “Captain.” I said,
“where the hell do T know you from?” He says, “My name is Jimmy Roosevelt.”

TS: Oh!

RF: Isays, “Holy cripe!” I says, “I’'m sorry.” I says, “I knew I knew you from
someplace.”

(Laughter)
(33:44)

RF: He says, “Yeah, I'm Jimmy Roosevelt.” He says, “I’'m glad to make your
acquaintance. He said, “I don’t have time to stop and have a'beer with you.” “But,” he
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said, “If you’re going to be around in the city for any time he says I’m over at the army
barracks.” He says, “Come on over and we’ll have a beer.” But never got to see him.

#

LT: Oh. (laughs)

RE: But, running into Jimmy was one hell of a coincidence.- But he was a very gracious
guy. DuPont was over there with us. Iran into him a couple times. So we....

TS: Very egalitarian service.
(Laughter)
RF: Yeah, all high class guys. Yeah, But... some great experiences.

(34:44)

LD: When you came home, and you went to work as a lawyer in Calumet City, what
sorts of cases were you involved in for them as the city attorney? Was it criminal law
or...?

RF: Well, it was, you handled everything, divorce. Right across the street was the city
court of Calumet City. In those days they, they had city courts all over the county.
Midlothian, in fact Suria-- :

TS: Ch

RF: --was a city court judge over in Midlothian. And so you’d just go across the street.
Most of the divorces were defaults. So you’d prepare the complaint, answer, stipulation.
Go across the street and get a divorce--

(Laughter)

RF: --sign the decree the same day. So boy I tell you, two hundred dollars was the
general charge. I always got the impression that you know you could sit down with these
people and reconcile ‘em up. I'd sit down with them for hours and find out they went
across the street to this Jewish friend of mine. He gave the divorce. The hell with this
reconciliation.

(Laughter; RF knocks on table)

R¥: You’re going to get a divorce.

(Laughter)

REF: I finally found out, here I was doing all this work, this. guy was making all the

money. So he told me, “You know. You’re nuts. Try to get them to reconcile. They
come over to me and we give them a divorce. You fose two hundred bucks.”
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(Laughter)

.i'!

RF: So Dave was...He and I ...God, everybody hated his guts. Dave and I got along real
well. But...he... you handled a few criminal cases but not many.

(36:40)
TS: So you had, you had a private practice as well as being city attorney?

RF: Oh yeah, yeah. In fact, when I first got on the bench I was assigned the divorce
division.

(Laughter)

RF: First six months I was in the divorce division. And on a Friday John Boyle called
me. And he said, “Hey Fitz.” He says, “On Monday you’re going out to criminal court.”
I says, “Jesus, John. I says, “I don’t know anything about criminal law.” He, “Well, read
Chapter 38 over the weekend, when you go out there, you’ll be the smartest son ofabout
there on 26™ Street.”

(Laughter)

RF: That was my baptism to.... Thank God I had two great criminal lawyers. Or, State’s
Attorneys. Bob Boyle was one of them.

TS: Uh-huh. Yeah. Couldn’t do betier than that.
RF: And the other guy, I can’t think of his name. But he was smart as hell. So they, got
me through the first six months and after that, why, you know you sort of fell in with it,

as you well know.

(37:54)
TS: Yeah, yeah. Thad the same experience. It was a Thursday that Judge Boyle called.

(Laughter)

RF: (indecipherable)

TS: He said, “Swain.” I said, “Yes, yes Judge Boyle.” That was the Chief Judge.
LT: Okay.

TS: He said, “For some reason Dick Fitzgerald is high on you.” i said, “Oh, I’m pleased
to hear that.” “Monday you start in criminal (indecipherable)”

{1.aughter)
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RF: Oh boy, he was really a great guy.

TS: Not eve}rlyébody liked him. But he--

RF: Yeah.

TS: --but he ran a tight ship.

RF: Oh, he was tougher than heck. Yeah. Really tough.

(38:32) _
LT: You mentioned that you were city attorney for Calumet City and then you were in
Lemont for awhile?

RF: City attorney for Lemont.

LT: (almost simultaneously) City attorney for Lemont.

TS: You didn’t live there, you just represented them.

RF: No. The mayor was a good friend of mine. And there was another little village out
here. T can’t think of the name of the place. It’s... I was the city attorney for the city and

the school district. And, so that kept me pretty busy.

(39:05)
LT: And you had this in conjunction with your private practice as well?

RF: Yeah, yeah.

(39:12)
LD: What sorts of cases would you handle for the different school districts? Just advice
on contracts?

RF: Advice, primarily.
LD: Mmm-hmm.

RF: And if they had a bond issue coming up I handled the bond issue. If they had any
problems with the teachers, why of course we took some mediation with them. And, the,
oh, the general problems that they have in school districts. But the big thing was the
bond issues and advising the board on matters that came up on a ... You attended all the
board meetings. Things that came up why of course you’d try to resolve. And...

(40:05) .
TS: Were you salaried or did you bill them?
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RF: No, they, I was salaried generally in the school districts. And then of course if you
had the bond issues or anything extra-curricular...

TS: Mmm-hmm.

(40:18)

RF: Iused to do a lot of foreclosure work on real estate. Many of these big subdivisions
put the subdivisions in and then the Depression came along and they didn’t develop them.
So the, the land remained vacant with all the improvements in. And they put the
improvements in by special assessment. And, when things got tough, why they didn’t
pay the special assessments or the taxes. So, and they didn’t pay the real estate taxes. So
we could go in as city attorney and foreclose on the property. And then on payment of
the special assessments. And then you would combine the real estate taxes along with
your complaint. So by the time you got through with the...And the property would be
sold at auction. And of course we would buy the property. And of course as a resul, it
was one hell of a lucrative business. You had five hundred lots, you know. Somebody
would pay you to do the work. You either took time to yourself or you charged your
client $150 or $250 a lot. So we did a lot of foreclosure work, too. And that was very
lucrative. Took care of a lot of (indecipherable) and Bull Durham.

(Laughter)
(42:01)
LT: You, obviously you were in private practice and a city attorney for a long time...So

what made you change to, you know, become a judge then? Especially since it sounds
very lucrative.

RY: Yeah, well, I suddenly decided T wanted a change. I mean, this became, you know,

a sort of a monotonous thing every day. And, so I suddenly decided I’d like to get on the
bench. I talked to the mayor, and lo and behold T ended up under the mayer. Of course 1
had to ask him three times before T got on.

TS: That’s a low number, you know.

(Laughter)

RF: Yes, that’s right. But he was...

(42:46)
TS: How did you get to be committeeman in Thornton?

RF: You had to run for it. Democratic slate. Fellow who was the committeeman died

and I was very close to him so I ran for the committeemanship. And Thornton Township
was the largest township in the, in the, in the county. And so it was a...
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TS: Did you have opposition in the election?

RF: Notthé first time. Second time I did. But, you had no problem.
(Laughter)

RF: They had a good organization. So...

(43:30)
TS: You’d been taught how to vote earlier.

(Laughter).

RF: Oh yeah, and often.

LT: Back in St. Louis.

RF: Yeah. Picking up these sixteen-year-old kids and hauling ‘em in.
(Laughter)

(43:43)
LT: What were your responsibilities as Democratic commiiteeman?

RF: Well, the primary responsibility was to handle the elections and to organize precincts
in the various townships. As they did wards in Chicago they had different precincts.

And out here we probably had maybe 100 precincts in the township. So it was one of the
largest townships. And it was not predominantly Repub- or Democratic. It was maybe
five or six of the towns, Calumet City, Harvey, a few of the others were all Democratic
but the rest Republican. So we used to have quite a battle on our hands all the time.

LT: Mmm-hmm.

RF: But we were never expected to carry for the Democrats. We just had a damn good
showing.

TS: Damage control.

RE: Damage control, that was it.
(Laughter)

RF: Right.

(44:56) .
LD: It was in your capacity as committeeman that you met Richard J., Richard Daley?
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RF: Yeah. And, he and I became very close.

TS: As committeeman you had to go to all the central committee meetings.

RF: All the cent-, yeah all the central committee...

TS: And that’s where he would preside.

(45:19)

RF: Yeah. Then when Rich was state’s attorney, Rich and I were very close. We had
lunch at least once a month. After he became Mayor I went in to see him a couple of
times. “What can [ do for you?” I said, “Well, what can you do for me? You never did
anything for me.”

(Laughter)

TS: Ah, the father to the son.

RF: Twas at Winston & Strawn then. And, I had some great experience over there.

(45:56)
TS: When did you leave the bench?

RF: Oh, let’s see, I was 78 at the time.

(46:05)
TS: You couldn’t have run for retention because of the legal limitation?

RF: Yeah, | could have.

TS: Oh.

RF: But, uh...

TS: You didn’t run, though.

RF: Idecided hell, 27 years on the bench.

(Laughter)

T8: ‘-{ou opted out, you maxed out on your pension. '

RF: Yeah. That’s right. Ithought about that pension, toor.r

(Laughter)
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RF: Boy, that was the big deal.

TS: Oh yeéh.

(46:33) _

RF: I was with John Hourihane who was on the appellate court. He was on the criminal
court with me. And of course he, after he got out you know, he was still on the bench.
He would sit down, constantly figure out his pension. If I get on the appellate court, 'm
getting this much. Oh why the hell don’t I get on the appellate court? I says, “So why
don’t you?” So he did.

(Laughter)

RF: And he did get on the appellate court for a couple of years.

TS: And he gave you a finder’s fee--

(Laughter)

TS: --for giving him the idea.

RF: Doesn’t even buy a lunch that cheapskate.

(Laughter)

RF: No, he’s... That pension is a good thing. Of course, they take out your income tax,
your Social Security and all that. By the time you get through with it why...

TS: At this point the health care is very significant.

(47:31)

R¥: Oh, my God Almighty. My wife was, (coughs) she was bedridden for eight years.
And...

TS: Tt took care of it all.

RF: Well, I had three nurses a night. Of course I took care of the nurses myself.

T8: Mmm-hmm.

RF: But evéry time she’d go to the hospital, why, Medicare and the pension— -

TS: The pension

RF: --took care of it. God I tell you... Without that, I mean— -
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TS: You woulc_ln’t be here.

+

RF: —-I'd be scrounging out at the mills. Yeah.

(48:05)
LT: How did you meet your wife? You said...

RF: She was down in St. Louis.
L T: She was down in St. Louis... Was that where you met her, at school?
RF: Yeah. Uh-huh.

(48:12)
LT: Was she also a student there?

RI': Yeah, she was out there for awhile.
RF: And, I don’t know how she put up with me buf she did.
(Laughter)

(48:19)
TS: How many years?

RF: We were married 62 years.

(48:24).
TS: She put up with you all that time?

(Laughter)

RF: She sure did. And I was no, [ was no prince, I’ll tell you.
(Laughter)

TS: That’s not what I hear. But I never talked to your wife.
REF: She was a good ‘ol Dutchman. And...

(48:46)
TS: What was her family name?

RF: Hollembeak.
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T8: Oh, you got that.
LT: Yeah: Mmm-hmm.

(48:51) .
RF: Yeah, her father was a graduate of lowa State. He owned a farm up in Casey, Iowa.
Half a section.

TS: Boy! Huge!

RF: Huge farm. She had two brothers and a sister. They all were born up, raised on that
farm. They came to St. Louis. Father was a smart guy, but.., Idon’t know what the hell
he did. He worked for the electric company out in St. Louis. So it was... a great group.

(49:40)
LT: Did you get married before you enlisted in the Navy? Or did you get married after?

RF: Yeah. Before.
LT: Before.

RF: Yeah. Fact, [ had a, we had my one, my oldest son was born then. So, hell, they
took me in. I, the guy on the draft board was a good friend of mine. He says, “You're
going.” And I says, “Geez, John.” Isays, “I got a wife and a kid.” “Tough stuff.” He
says, “There are a lot of other guys got two kids.” He says, “You're going.” So I said,
“Boy, what I better do is to get the hell out of here and get a commission.” So I worked
on the Navy and finally got a commission. And, before that, I ran into a friend of mine in
Chicago who was a Marine captain. John Chevigny. Went to Notre Dame. Played
football. Hell of a great guy. And he said, I told him I says, “I’m going up, signing up to
the Navy, getting a commission.” He says, “It’s gonna take you a month.” He says,
“C’mon. I'm in the Marine Corps. We’ll go on up and we’ll get you signed up right
today. You’ll go down to Quantico, Virginia with your commission.” He says. “I’ll have
you lined up. C’mon with me.” I said, “Wait a minute, I gotta talk this over.” He says,
“Well come on up and talk to the sergeant.” So the sergeant had all the papers out there,
lined up. He says, “Just sign here.” He says, “Tuesday we’re going to send
(indecipherable) down to Quantico. Yow’ll go with ‘em.” I said, “Christ, I just came in
here to get some information.” :

(Laughter)

RF: “You guys got me down to Quantico.” But the ironical thing of the whole thing, -
John Chevigny’s group were over in Vietnam or some place and got wiped out.

TS: Yeah.

RF: The whole group.
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TS: Yeah. No, that was bad business.

(51:39)

RF: But for the grace of God, I mean, I’d been in with a bunch of crazy Marines. So, !
dodged that one and finally got this commission. I don’t know how I got it, but I, they
gave it to me, And, so I went to Harvard, Princeton first, and got your indoctrination at
Princeton and then I went down to gunnery school in Mississippi. I was all set to get an
armed guard. They had you know, the merchant ships had a, a gun on the fantail. And
you had your crew. So I was all set. Thad my crew. We had trained down at
Mississippi. I got word when I was in New Orleans waiting for my ship to go up to
Harvard. [ say, “Go up to Harvard. What the hell is up there?” Communication school.
Went up to Harvard for three months. So I'm a--

TS: You’re a Harvard man.

RF: --I'm an Ivy Leaguer. Princeton, Harvard.
(Laughter) |

LT: Right.

TS: Good for you.

RF: Right. Made all the schools, yeah_.

L.D: Do we want to take a short break at this point?

END OF AUDIO FILE ONE
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BEGINNING OF FITGERALD INTERVIEW, PART TWO

RF: ...an escape artist, who, um, geez I tell you, he escaped from Statesville, escaped
from county jail twice.

(Laughter)

RF: And I was trying him for an armed robbery. He was a colored fellow, handsome, big
athlete, and every time he would come to court there was always two or three very pretty
girls there to give him--

(Laughter)
TS: Moral support.

RF: -- solace and comfort. And so this one day, one of the girls came in the courthouse
early, and...I had an old clerk who was about 75 years old, and she wanted to know if she
could use the telephone back in the library, and he said, “Well, you’re not supposed to,”
he says, “but it’s 8 o’clock in the morning, nobody’s around, go ahead and use it.” So
she had this book, and inside of the book was a 38. [Gasps] So she knew that every time
he came into the courtroom they put him in the library because of, he was, as 1 say an
escape artist, so she takes this book and puts it in the drawer on this, under the big table,
so when he comes in every day, he goes into this, the room, picks up the book, you know,
goes out before me after awhile and he asks for a continuance because his lawyer wasn’t
there. So I granted him a continuance. So he has this book and takes the gun out as
they’re leading him out into the back of the courthouse and the guy says to the bailiff,
“We’re gonna to take a walk.” And he says, “What the hell you talkin’ about,” he says,
“that’s not a real gun.” He says, “The hell it isn’t.” So he pulls the trigger and geez the
damn blast, I mean, in that confined area you could hear it all over the place. So he goes
downstairs, goes thru Epton’s courtroom--

TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: -- and of course every, the cops were all out, they heard this shot s0 they were all
waiting. So he gets out into the hallway and geez these Chicago cops they just riddled
him with bullets—

LT: Oh my gosh!

RF: Andhe, finally just... .that was it.

TS: Mmm-hmm. |

RF: And so I’ve got the book down here and the gun that was in it is a piece of the
memorabilia (indecipherable) 26, 'l let you look at it before you leave.
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(Laughter)

TS: Its not loaded I hope. I don’t want these girls to get any ideas.

LT: Right!

RF: No, in fact Matt Rush was in there, he and Tom Tully were prosecuting this guy.
TS: Yeah, huh.

RF: And so Matt gave me the gun after he had it, I guess they disarmed it, whatever they
had fo...

TS: Did he kill the deputy?
RF: No.

TS: Yeah?

RF: No.

TS: That was lucky.

RF: The deputy was a big tough son of a gun, but when he went into the courtroom, he
let the deputy go and he picked up, grabbed a public defender— '

TS: Oh my!

RF: -- marched him out into the hall and that’s when the cops really lambasted him
and...

(Laughter)

TS: Did they miss the public defender?

(Laughter)
RF: Yeah they missed him.
LT: Oh well good.

RF: They ended up prosecuting this gal, and—

§
]

(Laughter, indecipherable talking)

RF: -- she got a couple of years or something.
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TS: An accessory to say the least.

RF: But sI;e; was a pretty gitl, and I would have given her probation but I didn’t iry her!
(Laughter)

TS: You’'re soft hearted.

RF: Yeah!

TS: That’s what it séys here.

RF: Right! Easy does it.

LD: Especially in that Time article.

RE: Yeah!

(4:28)

LT: You mentioned that when you decided to leave private practice and become a judge
it was because you found your private practice so monotonous. What did your family
think of your decision to leave private practice and become a judge?

RF: My wife didn’t care.

LT: She didn’t care?

RF: Naw, naw,

TS: How many children did you have at that time?

RF: Two.

TS: Two?

RF: Two boys, yeah.

(4:54)
LT: And why did you decide to become a state judge versus a federal judge?

RF: Well, there’s a different route you have to take to get a federal judgeship, and I was
happy to be in the state courts, and I was happy doing what I was doing. I, one of the

- famous criminal lawyers, [ can’t think of his name off hand, he had a couple of good
fiiends on the supreme court and, came in to see me one day, asked me if I’d like to get
up on the appellate court, and I said, “What the hell would I do on the appellate court!”
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And he, 1 said, “What makes you think T could get on 1 the appellate court?” And he said,
“Well so- and-so and so-and so-are my very dear friends™—

TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: -- “and they told me that there’s an opening that”—

TS: If you want --

RF: -- “if you want it you can have it.” And I says, “What the hell would 1 be doing on
the appeilate court, writing opinions?” (laughter and indecipherable) Lucky I can sign my
name, let alone writing opinions!

(Laughter)

TS: I think the real issue is that no one could replace you where you were.

RE: Oh hell I never, there were a lot of guys out there that were better equipped than [
was. I mean...

TS: That’s not what [ hear.

" (Laughter)

RF: You’re talking to my press agent.

{Laughter)

TS: Oh him, yeah, my dear friend.

RF: Yeah, no I was pretty lucky, met some great guys.

TS: How long was Tully in your courtroom?

RF: About two or three years and he and Matt Rush were pariners and...

TS: Was Joe Roddy with them?

(7:00)

RF: No, not then. Ron Himmel was the public defender. God, they used to give that
guy a bad time when they were picking a jury. They would both be seated, the jury .
would be here and they would be seated this way and Ron Himmel would be over here
and he would have to talk over these two guys to the jury. And finally he got smart and
he said, “These son of a b’s are blocking me.” And so he came back to me and he says,

“Look what these two guys are doing.” He says, “I cant see the jury, I’'m tryin' to pick
the jury, and one of them's sitting here, one’s sitting here,” and he says, “They’re up high,
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I can’t see the jury.” So I call these guys in and I says, “Come on, what are you doing?”
“Well, we aren’t blocking him.” I said, “The hell you’re not blocking him. One, I don’t
want you, one guy sit here, one guy over here. Let him see the jury.” Tully says, “That
son of a b,” he said, “Doing a thing like that.”

(Laughter)

(8:00)

RF: But one story I (clears throat) I love to tell is the (clears throat) the story about this
kid came before me, he’s about 17, stealing cars, and, real smart little kid, and 1 told him,
I said, “Sylvester,” I said, “'m gonna give you probation because I think you have some
potential. I think you can go back into the community, go to school and make something
of yourself” He said, “Yeah, I'm goin’ to school, 'm never coming back here again.” 1
said, “If you do, you’re going to get two to six, do you understand that?” “Yes sir.” Six
months later here he is and 1 said to him, I says, “Sylvester, what’d I tell you I was gonna
give you when you came back?” He says, “I don’t know.” I said, “Two to six and you
gotit. Take him away.” So as he's leaving the bench, in front of my bailiff he says,
“That old gray haired son of a bitch,” and my bailiff grabbed him and he says, pulled him
up before me, says, “Judge, this guy just said you were an old gray haired son of a bitch.”
I said, “Did you tell my bailiff 1 was an old gray haired son of a bitch?” IHe said, “Judge,
[ don’t know how he found out. Ididn’t tell him.”

(Laughter)
RF: I said that little son of a ...talk about a response. 1 said okay, boy. Yeah. Oh, boy.
{Laughter)

(9:48)
L.D: Just to clarify, you were first elected to the benchin 19...

RF: 64.

LD: Okay, alright. I just wanted to make a note of that. So once you were appointed to,
um to... How exactly did it work, were you appointed or did you have to run for
election?

RF: No, I had to run for office.

LD: Okay.

RF. Yeah.

TS: You got slated first.

RF: 1 got slated first and then—
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LD: Mmm-hmm.

RF:--Iran.

TS: That’s where being a township committeeman helps.

RF: That helps, yeah.

(10:20)

LD: Did you have any difficulty with campaign finances? Iknow that it was mentioned
that the ABA today has some concerns about the—

TS: High cost.

LD: -- the money being spent.

RF: Iprimarily ran in nmy Thornton township, so I mean I controlled the township and
we didn’t have any finances to amount to anything because I had all my organization
there so I didn’t have to have anybody contributing to me. So no problem with money
and so you were beholden to nobody but your own organization. And then of course, the
Democratic organization took care of the other townships and the wards in the city, but 1

had nothing to do with them.

(11:07)
TS: You ran county wide?

RF: Yeah.

TS: Yeah?

RF: Mmm-hmm.

TS: Some judges are elected city only, some suburbs only, and some county wide.
LD: Okay.

TS: Yeah.

LT: And you have to run for a particular seat don’t you fora ...

TS: A named seat | |

LT: A named seat, | think that’s what Judge Swain told us, that you run for a named seat
when you run for election.
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RF: Generally you did, yeah.

LT: Okay. +

RF: But I mean, but when you run for retention of course, you just...
LT: Right. |

RF: Yeah.

LT: Was it someone who had retired or died when you were running for that particular
seat, do you remember? :

RF: 1don’t remember, but you had opposition, somebody ran again you and so we had
no problems.

(11:55)
LT: And then you mentioned the first division, you were assigned to divorce division?

R¥: Divorce, yeah.

LT: Okay, okay, and for how long was that?
RF: Six months.

LT: Oh, only six rﬁbnths.

R¥: Yeah.

LT: Okay, what was that like?

RF: Well, I mean, here again, you know, you handle a lot of divorces and there was, the
lawyers gave me more trouble than the clients. I 'mean they always tried to impress their
clients and you knew what they were doing and of course you put up with them. And
Bob Hunter was the head, he was the head of the divorce division, and a real great guy,
and he brought in a psychiatrist, and the psychiatrist was advising us as to our demeanor
on the bench, the way we handle the people, lawyers and the clien [breaks off midway
though the word client] and the participants. And of course as he said, you know, he
said, don’t try to mediate these people that come into your courtroom. The tendency is
bring ‘em into chambers we’ll get ‘em together. He says you’re not equipped, he says

. you’re not a psychiatrist, you don’t know what the hell you’re talking about, he says
you're gonna do more harm than good so keep away from that. So I was just thinking of
myself when [ was practicing law— :

(Laughter)
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TS: Yeah.
RF: -- smart ass who was trying to reconcile everybody!
LT: To reconcile everybody!

RF: This guy finally, it took umpteen minutes to get on the bench to have some guy tell
me what a stup [stupid] I was!

(Laughter)
RF: So, we finally realized, try your cases, no reconciliation here and so that...

(13:50)
TS: Bob Hunter lived around the corner from me on Kenwood in Hyde Park.

RF: Oh did he?

'TS: And in our precinct he had a big family so there were always six Republication votes
in our precinct!

(Laughter)

RF: He had a big farm too.

TS: Yeah that’s right, he raised ox, or cattle out there.

RF: Cattle out there yeah, yeah, he was a great guy. He was a football player wasn’t he?
TS: He looked like it. T don’t know.

RF: T forget where he went to school, but he played football someplace. But. ..

TS: One time in a big snow dr--, a big show, the people were going down Kenwood
Avenue there where, right at 49" Street where I live, ah, were, some of them would get
stuck. And so the neighbors were sort of out (laughs) helping their other neighbors get in.
So these other couple of college guys came by and so Hunter and I were pushing his car
and he sailed off I said, “I don’t suppose he knew he had two circuit court judges pushing
his cat.”

(Laughter)

R¥: High class pushers!

TS: Yeah, well, that means something else!
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(15:08)

LT: You mentioned the psychiatrist. Do you remember any particular instances or cases
from when you were on divorce court that were unusual or anything that sticks out from,
I know it was only 6 months, but...

R¥: No, no, not really

LT: Not really?

RF: No, I mean I was not real happy there but, you know, you, it was easy, an easy
assignment, and it is a good way to orientate a judge. Get him in there, and then get you
out there in the boondocks and boy, I tell you it was something.

TS: Was there more hostility in divorce court or criminal court?

RF: The what?

TS: Was there more hostility among people in divorce court or criminal court?

RF: Sure, T mean the people in the divorce courts, I mean, they were vicious—

TS: Out of control—

RF: -- and the lawyers—

TS: -- worse!

RF: -- God, they were worse than the clients and you’d have to put ‘em down, you know,
call ‘em back into chambers and say, “I know what you’re doin’ cut out the
showmanship. Get on with the case.” And most of them would settle down. And of
course out at 26™ Street, I mean, boy everything was (indecipherable) time and you didn’t
fool around out there. And they respected everybody out there.

TS: Mmm-hmm, that was the big leagues.

RF: Yeah, that was, you’re in the big time now, yeah.

(16:44)

LT: Did you feel your six months on divorce court prepared you, that you really learned a

lot?

RF: I think it did, I mean, it sort of at least got you the feeiing of knowing where the hell
you’re going. And, but as I say, when you get out to 26" Street it’s, a different ball game.

TS: Was Boyle the chief judge when you were appointed—
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RF: Yeah.
TS: -- when you got assigned?
RF: Yeah.
TS: Yeah?
RF: Yeah.

(17:15)
L.D: I am not from the Chicago area. What is 26" Street?

TS: That’s the main criminal court division.

LD: Okay.

RY: 26" and California. They don’t say‘the criminal court they say, “we’re going out to

2 6th.h

TS: Course that got confusing when you also had 13" and Michigan.

RF: And I had three judges at 13" and Michigan.
TS: Including me.

RF: (Laughs) Yeah, you were out there. That’s right!
(Laughter)

RF: And Marovich out there with you?

TS: Yeah, and Romy Palmer.

RF: Romy. Who was the third one?

TS: Uh....

RF: Wasr Tom Fitz out there?

TS: Yeah, yeah, yeah, he was.

RF: Yeah, he’s on the Supreme Court now.

TS: His clerk and my clerk got into a wrestling match in the corridor.
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{Laughter)

RF: I swore Tom in.

TS: Oh you did?

RF: Yeah.

LT: Is that him up there? {Indicating picture on top of refrigerator]
RF: Yeah...great guy.

(18:23)

LT: And then you were assigned to criminal after and then that’s where you stayed for
the remainder, for the next 27 years?

RE: Yeah 27 years, a lifetime.

LT: Right, that is a lifetime.

TS: You got a life sentence, huh?

(Laughter)

RF: Yeah, { got the book.

(Laughter)

(18:41)
I.T: And then I knew you were presiding judge over the criminal courts—

RF: Yeah, the, for 17 years.
LT: For 17 years?
RF: Yeah, for ten years I tried cases.

(18:56)
LT: Okay. How does one become the presiding judge over the criminal courts?

RF: The chief judge assigns you.
LT: Okay.,

RF: John Boyle assigned me.
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LT: Okay.

(19:04)

RE: Joe Power left and he ran for the Supreme Court. He wasn’t elected but he was
having trouble. And we had a few bad actors out there. We had an investigation called
Greylord. A U.S. attorney’s, in fact it was Dan Webb who was the state’s attorney at the
time, U.S. attorney, and they came out and talked to me about this investigation that was
going on and asked me if T would help’em. And T said, “Well if I've got any bad apples,
we sure as hell wanted to get rid of them.” So they started their investigation and we
worked with them. Couple of guys were indicted...and (coughs)...but... we worked with
them, did a lot of work, helped ‘em....Couple of guys got kicked out... but...I guess Sal
Maloney’s still in the pen.

TS: Yeah, that’s right.

‘RF: Yeah, but...got a little plaque from the head of the FBI. Big deal.
(Laughter)

TS: It’s worth how much on the CTA?

RF: I couldn’t buy a beer with it.

LT: Were you relieved when you got the bad judges out when they were indicted or
were...

RE: Well, I was surprised because (clears throat)—
TS: You never know.

RF: -- yeah, you never know. I mean the guys were doing their work and one guy was
pretty heavy on the alcohol, Tom Maloney was a guy I never expected to be involved.

TS: He was, he was $0 affable.

RF: Yeah! He was just a good lookin’, affable, nice guy and the other guy, he was on
the bottle. And there was a murder case he was tryin’, real hot case, and it was a bench
trial, no jury, and he called me and he said, he said, “Boy, this is a tough one.” He says,
“You know I’ve got a lot of pressure on me on this case.” And I said, “Well what you do
is just sit down write out your opinion, cite your reasons, and that’s it.” And so he says,
“Okay,” “And I’m not going to tell you what to do,” but I said, “you’ve been on the
bench long enough.” And of course little did I know that they’d reached him and offered
him a bribe to find not guilty. And he was a notorious defendant. And he did. And then
they had another case later on, and they got a hold of him in the saloon, he was about half
stiff, gave him ten thousand bucks if he blew the case. Got off the bench, went out to
Arizona and he died out there. They were gonna indict him.
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(23:00) _ .

RF: And then what I did, I put in a (clears throat) computer system to assign cases
(clears throat) so’s there’d be no impartiality [sic], nobody was seeing who got what. So
we put in that computer system and it worked out pretty good. And...

TS: The computer would kick up three names and you’d have to pick one of therﬁ?
RE: No, it’d pick up one.

TS: Oh, it would only kick up one?

RF: Just one.

TS: So areal (indecipherable)

RF: So, I had, I had nothing, nothing to do with it—

TS: Totally random? |

(23:36)

RF: Yeah. And of course we set up sentencing guidelines for the judges. Ahhhh...what
we did is, was a group from New York University came in and they would go to each one
of the judges and say on this type of case, what sort of a sentence would you give, I mean
four to ten, or something. So they went to all of the judges, and each judge gave their
opinion as to how they would sentence the person. So we took the most, or we took all of
the information and set up our own guidelines. Ahhhh...the judges didn’t have to follow
them, they could do whatever they wanted to, but I mean, if you had a stinkin’ case, and
didn’t know what everybody else was doin’, yow’d look at the guidelines between two
and four, six and twelve, or whatever. So it sort of, I mean, it helped you, if you were not
sure.

TS: The guidelines were much appreciated by people, particularly the newer judges like
me who didn’t know what the experience was—

RFE: Yeah.

TS: -- whether judges...there was a lot of resentment at first about filling out the damned
forms—

RF: Oh yes!
TS: -- but when the material came back it was so useful,

RT: Yeah.
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TS: And it’s so different than the federal guidelines which are mandatory—
RF: Yeah,and—
TS: -- don’t give you any leeway.

RF: Couple a years later the legislature passed guidelines pretty much similar 1:0. what we
had and so it worked out pretty well for the guys.

LT: Did those become mandatory, those guidelines passed by the legislature, or were
they just—

RF: Yeah.

L.T: Okay, so they became mandatory for all state judges?

RF: Yeah, but | mean it gave them leeway.

LT: Sure.

RF: Two to four, four to six—

LT: Oh okay, okay.

RF: -- but they were pretty much close to what we had already put up.

TS: You know, Vince Bentivenga got reversed for giving too light a sentence according
to the guidelines ] remember—

RF: (Laughs) Oh did he!

TS: -- yeah, which seems strange—

RF: (Laughs)

TS: -- that the state would appeal the lightness of the sentence.
RF: Yeah, the state. Yeah.

LT: (Laughs and indecipherable)

TS: Imean, he had, you know its one of those situations where you had a lot of
considerations that were sort of outside the guidelines.

RF: Sure.

46



LD: This was all while you were the presiding judge?

RF: Yeah, timm-hmm,

LD: Did you actually hear cases as presiding judge or was it you were just—
RF: No. |

LD: -- in charge of seeing to the, the details in all the other of your courts?
RF: Right.

(26:13)
LD: Okay. And that’s when you also, as presiding judge, when you also established the
repeat offenders court?

RF: Yeah, mmm-hmm.

1.D: So what year was that and could you tell us a little bit about if. I know we’ve got the
article there, but...

TS: Uh, (clears throat) well, we were having trouble getting cases through the system.
And these repeat offenders were the guys who were stalling all the time. So what we did
is took three judges and assigned them to the repeat offenders, so when the assignment
came up, for assigning a case, if it was a repeat offender, I mean the computer would spit
it out ‘repeat offender’ and it would go to one of the three judges. And they were really
knockin® out a lot of cases, and it, so there’d be about 300 or 600 repeat offenders on
their call and heck they cut it down to about 320 or something when [ left. When Tom
Fitz came in after me, he had to do away with it, excuse me (cough). He said the case
loads were gettin’ too heavy and they had to use those three judges to help on the other
stuff. So...

LT: So for how long was it in place then, do you remember, approximately?
RI: Oh, about three years or so.
LT: So three years?

LD: Was there any controversy surrounding the idea of maybe prejudicing a fait trial by
labeling these people repeat offenders?

RF: Well, nobody knew it. I mean, when you went to trial, ] mean the defender—

TS: The jury had no idea.
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RF: -- yeah, they had no idea. No, the jury didn’t know they were repeat offenders, so it
was just our own group that handled the cases. Jury didn’t know, nobody else knew, and
that was the advantage of having the three, the repeat offender judges, because nobody
knew what they were assigned to.

TS: You could get a mistrial if you’d refer to it.

REF: Ohyeah. Oh absolutely. Refer to them as repeat offenders, (whistles)-—-

TS: Try the case over.

RE: -~ ry the case over.

LT: Okay, okay.

TS: Mistrial.

RF: Yeah.

LT: And how did you choose the three judges who were in these courts?

RF: I guess they were the most experienced. U, I think Hourihane was one and, do you
remember who the other two were? Ah, ah—

TS: I know they were the most experienced in the building.

RF: Yeah, yeah. I think Hourihane, and I think maybe Tom Fitz and probably Jim
Bailey...they were all hangin’ judges.

(Laughter)

TS: Toughies.

RF: They were good guys and so it worked out pretty well.

(29:38)

LT: How did you choose, I know the judges are moved around sometimes, how did you
assign judges from other divisions to come to criminal court? Would you be the one,
would the Chief Judge be the one to send them or would you?

RF: Yeah, Judge Boyle would.

LT: Okay, okay, so you didn’t have any sort of input on that?

RI": No, uh uh. .
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(29:59)

LD: Do we want to go back a few years and cover those years that you actually heard
cases? There were a couple of cases in particular that you, had mentioned earlier that I
wanted to ask you about, the Speck case and the Payne case, and then any others that you
might think were, particularly memorable.

RF: Umm...T don’t know if we had Gacy or not. I think I read a lot of motions with
Gacy and vh—

TS: Maybe that’s the one I was thinking of. Didn’t Bailey get 30 dispositions one day on
{hat?

RF: (Laughing) Yeah. I think it was Bailey, yeah. He tried Gacy...gee there’s sormany
of them, I just can’t think of them now...

LT: You mentioned the Payne one, did you want fo talk about that one a little bit?

RF: Payne. That was this one here. [Referring to Newsweek article]

LT: Mmm-hmm, mmm-hmm.

RF: Yeah, yeah, he... it wasn’t a spectacular case, [ mean, I forget what he was charged
with but I think when the press picked it up, I mean they just picked up a case and it was
Payne and they interviewed a public defender and I don’t recall, Tony Anesto was one of
the prosecutors.

TS: You know they quote the guy from the Center for Studies in Criminal Justice at the
U of C law school, said that we really have a criminal justice system is a fallacy, and they
were using this as an illustration—

RF: Oh yeah.

TS: The problems you run into in any case. (Coughs) And it’s a sociological study here
pretty much. Newsweek, yeah, “Justice on Trial.”

SDz?’zig part of the criminal court again, I'm not sure, I, I’'m not a lawyer. So would you
hear death penalty cases as a criminal court judge or is that in a different division?

RF: No. Ifthe case warranted death penalty, you tried it.

LD: Mmm-hmm.

RF: And gave it to ‘em...

'TS: Youhad a separate deliberation on the penalty.
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RF: Oh yeah, you had a scparate hearing on the, whether or not it should be a death
penalty or just prison time, and I don’t recall how many. As I say, I had Speck but I think
there was another one somewhere.

TS: There’s a picture of you here under the caption Fitzgerald, “Like God would look if
God were a judge.”

(Laughter)

RF: That was the quote from the public defender. Yeah,

TS: You actually look like Spencer Tracey.

{Laughter)

LT: Oh yeah, Oh gee!

LD: Oh! You do!

(34:02)

LD: Did you have a particular philosophy regarding the death penalty? Did, was it
something that you had to wrestle with?

RF: No, I mean if the crimes were that heinous and the, which would warrant a death
penalty case, the defendants were probably committing these heinous crimes that most
anybody would recommend the death penalty.

TS: And in a jury trial, you’d have the burden taken off of you anyway.

RF: Yeah, that’s right. I pretty much—

TS: But did you have death penalty cases that were bench trials ever?

RF: Yeah, yeah, but you would have a separate héaring on the hearings and aggravation
and mitigation and based upon all those recommendations you could also give the death
penalty or lifetime...

(35:13)

TS: Do you want to say a word about the resources you had that, the pre-sentence report
from the probation department. Was it of any use?

RF: Yeah. Yeah, we would get pre-sentence reports which of course would give you
both aggravating and mitigation conditions which of course would be helpful to you.

Rackgrounds of all the defendants so you could take that into consideration along with
the crime that he committed. '
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TS: And thefe_ you had the rap sheet that would tell all the prior—

RF: Yeah, -:[eils you everything about the guy so it’s, it’s sort of a helpful thing.
LT: And that was for every case that you had this?

RF: Yeah.

LT: Okay.

RF: Mmm-hmm, right.

TS: You probably experienced the, as I did, that sometimes you had to put over
sentencing since the report hadn’t come in yet.

RF: Oh yeah. Right. It was sort of a guideline for you.
TS: Mmm-hmm. You know, you weren’t out there working in a vacuum.
RF: Yeah, that’s right.

(36:18)

LT: And you mentioned bench trial versus a jury trial. Did you prefer one over the other

when you were hearing trials? Imean, was one easier?
RE: Jury.

LT: Jury was easier?

RF: You'd prefer it, yeah.

LT: Yeah?

RF: Let them make up the decision.

LT: (Laughs) Okay.

TS: Did you in your own mind make a decision as to whether you agreed with the jury
each time?

RF: Sometimes. Most of the time they were right.

TS: Yeah, that’s what I (RF clears throat, indecipherable)
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‘RF: I mean, if they came in with a not guilty why, you sort of shook your head but most
of the time they were pretty right. If the state didn’t prove their case beyond a reasonable
doubt I mean,—

TS: That’s what they’re supposed to do—
RF: Yeah, that’s right, you kick it up...yeah...but it was quite an experience.

(37:14)

LT: We’ve heard before that the idea that just to mention, just to sentence someone as
guilty is even a bigger deal than to actually, you know, whatever the sentence may, if it’s
a lighter sentence or a more severe sentence but that the fact that someone is declared
guilty that’s, you know, that’s bad enough. I think you were referring to that [pointing to
TS, that really, you know, guilt is just about the worst thing that you could do whether or
not you get, you know, two years in prison or 20 years in prison. Do you feel similarly to
that or do you feel—

RF: Well, it depends upon the crime.

LT: Depends upon the crime?

RF: (Clears throat) And the defendant’s background.

LT: Mmm-hmm.

RF: And this ... as I said you have a record of the past crimes and you get his rap sheet
and so you take all of these things, put them together, type of crime, maximum/minimum
sentences you can give and if it’s bad, you give ‘em the max. And...pretty much that
way.

(38:24)

TS: Did you have an, an opinion, a professional opinion about the wisdom of
Thompson’s Class X statutory change, meaning a Class X felony, mandatory prison
terms in certain cases?

RF: Yeah, he, I don’t think we paid much attention to ‘em.

{Laughter)

RF: I mean—

TS: Tdon’t think it probably shifted ahything you would have done anyway.

RF: Tdon’t think so, no.

LD: Who was Thompson?
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TS: The governor.

RF: He wa; =t-he governor.

LT and LD, almost in unison: Oh, okay.

TS: BigJim.

LT: Of course. Was this something that he wanted té put into place—
TS: Well, he —

LT: --or it was put into place?

TS: - he got it enacted.

LT: Okay.

TS: He was being tough on crime—-

LT: Okay.

TS: -- at that point, building penitentiaries around the state.

L.T: Sure.

TS: And filling them up.

LT: And so it would be a mandatory prison term for such-and-such crime?

RF: Yeah.

LD: And you just tended to ignore it and, and go with what you had set up as the
guidelines? :

RF: Sure, our own guidelines, sure. They were the Class X crimes he was talking about.
TS: &.’eah, it was something special, I forget what it was.

~ RF: Yeah.

TS: But it elevated (indecipherable)—

RF: Mandatory prison time.
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LT: So this was for certain types of crimes?
TS: Yeah. -
RF: Yeah.

(39:48)
TS: What did you think of the war on drugs as it affected the criminal court system?

RF: Well, you know it’s a funny thing, I’m, these crimes, inevitably the guys who
commit the crimes figure they’ll never get caught.

TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: Now, you can see these fellows who are heads of corporations or dealing in illegal
matters and they’re no different than the Mickey the Mope who robs the store. I had a kid
before me who lived in the neighborhood, went into this store and did the shopping, goes
in one Saturday night, and holds the guy up. I mean, you say to him, “Good God, why
would you go into the store, hold up a guy who knows you?” He says “I didn’t think I’d
get caught.” Well, you know, that’s the philosophy of these big guys and most of the
guys who commit the crimes don’t expect to get caught. And that’s why they do it. And
they, they have that thought in their mind, every single one of them. You look at these
top echelon guys who, you wonder why in the hell they would ¢commit a crime like that?
Here they have the world by the tail. “I don’t think I’d get caught and therefore I’ll do
ya.” And I mean every single one of ‘em, philosophy: “I didn’t think I'd get caught.” And
boy I tell you, it’s a matter that leads a helluva lot of the guys to doing it and they, it’s so
tempting.

TS: Mmme-hmm.

RF: And there are so, a helluva lot of guys who don’t get caught, but the big shots, boy, 1
tell ya, smart as hell, geniuses, here they are rapping around the, committing crimes.

TS: Bill Scott thought he’d never get caught and then he was in court with his wife on a
divorce thing and she said, “What about that safe deposit box full of money?”

R¥: (Laughs) Oh yeah, yeah!

(Laughter)

RF: Itell you, that’s it.

TS: She, he was trying to avoid it, paying her what she was demémding.

LT: Oh, and she knew that he had money (laughs).
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RF: Sure. Yeah.

(42:36) -
LT: Going along with, you know, sentencing, do you have any particular opinion about
plea bargaining? Do you favor it or not favor it?

RF: Well, yeah, ] mean, we, when you have six hundred cases on your call and there’s
no way you can try all of them and every, practically every case you come in, and the
state makes recommendations and defense makes their recommendation and if it’s
reasonable you go along with it. But plea bargaining is...hell, you couldn’t get along
without it, because you can’t try six hundred cases with more coming in every day
and...so you do it.

LT: Unm—

~ LD: Do you,- oh, go ahead-—
LT: Oh, I was going to say, about how many cases would you hear in the course of, I
guess a month or a year or, do you know? I mean, I guess it would depend on the type of
the crime.

RF: Pretty much the type of case.

LT: Mmm-hmm.

RF: (Clears throat) If you have a murder case, that’s going to go to trial.
LT: Right.

RF: If ydu have an armed robbery, or burglary I mean, you can dispose of those.

(43:55)
RF: Narcotics cases, you can plea bargain those... but right now it’s the narcotics cases
that I think are jamming up the courts— '

TS: That’s what I was asking about —

RF: Yeah.

TS: -- running up the system-—
RF: But—
TS: - ruining the system—

RF: It’s—
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TS: - you’ve gotta get rid of ‘em, somehow.

RF: Yeah, the narcotics courts weren’t doin’ it, and there again, it’s these guys are
peddlin’ on the street, but they don’t expect to get caught, but they don’t have jobs, they
don’t have an income, they have no way of getting any type of money. Best thing to do,
and the easiest thing: get the pot and sell it. And you can’t condone it but you can
understand why they do it.

LD: When you were on the bench, you said narcotics cases were often times, or even
typically, plea bargained as opposed to going to trial or is it just—

RF: Sometimes.

LD: --is it just that—

RF: All depends.

LD: -- so much, so many more of them now?

RF: Oh, there’s more now than ever...yeah...

TS: Do you remember when you got hit by a whole bunch of ‘em, and everybody out in
the (laughs) courts, the courtrooms were wondering, and he just divided them up and said
everybody’s got to take so many of these drug cases. (indeciphérable) There’s just,”
there’s just too many of them, we can’t handle them in drug court, everybody’s- got to
take their share.

RF: Yeah, that’s right, we had the narcotics courts and they just couldn’t handle it.

TS: It was just too much.

RF: Yeah, so...

LT: So you divided ‘em up among all the different judges?

RF: Sure.

LT: Mmm-hmm.

TS: He divided them.

(Langhter)

LT: He did! Said here you go!?
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RF: Yeah, here you are!

TS: Here are your 20 for today!

(Laughter)

RF: Yeah.

(46:00)

LT: Judge Swain noted before that sometimes it’s hard to get to know your fellow judges
because of, you know, you’re in your courtroom, and then, you know, even when you
leave your courtroom, you're still surrounded by a bunch of different people. Did you
find that it was difficult to become really close with your fellow judges, that you got to
know them really well?

RF: (Clears throat) Yeah, I...of course we had our lunches together,

TS: Yeah, that was unique about the criminal division—

RF: Yeah, it was.

TS: -- that’s the only place that happened.

RF: Yeah, so we’d get together over there, in fact they discussed a lot of their problems
over the table and everybody would, volunteer advice and so forth but, yeah that was a
great area.

TS: Nobody ever went into another guy’s courtroom and sat and listened.

RF: No, no, you're in your own fiefdom, and there was... mind your own business.

- TS: (Laughs) Yeah.

1.D: Were there opportunities to socialize with the other judges? Or did you all at the end
of the day just sort of go your own way"? )

RF: Yeah, pretty much. But of course, as I say, you...when I was sitting, and I"d get
down there around eight, eight-thirty, and most of the guys as they come in, stop in and
say hello, and what’s cookin’ and so forth, but other than that, I mean, there wasn’t a lot
of socializing, we just—

TS: ‘I_n my courtroom, I would get that from the prosecutors a_nd the public defenders.
They’d come in there for my coffee pot, you know— '

LT: Mmm-hmm (laughs).
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RF: Yeah.

TS: -- find.out what was going on for the day.

LT: Right, mmm-hmm.

TS: But not your fellow judges, because everybody was buéy doing their own thing.
RF: No, that’s right.

TS: They had the full responsibility of their own.

RF: They were busy.

TS: Yeah.

(48:01)

LT: Did you miss hearing cases, hearing trials, once you moved to the presiding judge
position?

RF: No, because you kept so busy. (Clears throat) I mean, assigning cases, I mean each
morning you get on the bench, first thing you do is assign the cases and...

TS: You assigned all the ones that came in to the 26 Street?

RF: Yeah, mmm-hmm, and they, occasionally you had motions but most of the time was
assigning the cases and resolving whatever problems that you had in the courthouse.

TS: And you’d have to reassign those where a judge recused himself.

RF: Yeah, they’d recuse themselves. ‘Course I sort of cut the water out from under ‘em
when they were, you’d assign the case on the computer, the judge would say, or the
lawyer would say, “I want a change of venue.” Well, ordinarily you’d just tell the girl on
the computer to reassign it but I got smart and I said, “Let this guy go upstairs,” I said,
“Make your motion up before the judge. Tell him you want a, “I want a”—

TS: A different judge

RF: -- “a different judge. Recuse yourself.” Well, you know, if the judge would say,
“NO""—"

(Laughter)
RF: -- “no reason, no basis, you’re on trial here,” boy, you got four strikes against you.

- (Laughter)
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RF: So, when you would come in there, and they’d say, “I want a change of venue,”
you’d say, {‘Make your motion upstairs.” “Well, I'll take the computer.”

(Laughter)

RF: So...

LT: Did that lighten your workload a lot when you had the computer or...?
RF: Oh yeah, but of course it meant that everybody was getting a fair shake.
LT: Okay.

RF: We weren’t agsigning a special case to a friend of ours.

LT: Right, mmm-hmm.

RF: And it was a random assignment and people can’t criticize you for assigning cases to

your friends because everybody had their dog cases.

(Laughter)

TS: Boy did we.

(Laughter)

RF: You’d go down your list, you didn’t have a good one on there.

(Laughter)

TS: When they opened up 13™ and Michigan those were all new courtrooms—-
R¥F: Oh yeah.

TS: They attracted dogs.

(Laughter)

TS: I mean the judge said, “Okay, I've got to assign so much of my call to this, to one of

these new courtrooms. Here, you got ‘em.”
(Laughter)

RE: Yeah.
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TS: But one of the things we were told by more seasoned judges is a case is old, if the
case is old, there’s a reason why it’s old.

RF: (Lauéﬂé) Right. Nobody wants to try it.
LT: (L.aughs)

TS: There’s something the matter with it.
RF: Yeah.

(51:00)

LD: Well, yeah, that does interest me, what would you consider when you were sitting on

the bench, what would you consider a dog case?
TS: (Laughs)

RF: Well, a bad rape case, murder, and—

TS: A, just a nasty case—

LT: One of the real particularly heinous crimes?
R¥: Sure.

LT: Okay.

TS: That wasn’tf

RF: Oryou’d-—

TS: -- that wasn’t gonna settle.

RF: Yeah, or you’d get a Gacy or you get one of those dog cases that went on over six—

TS: Went on over six years—

RF: Yeah.

TS: And the press wonders why.

RF: 7Right.

TS: Usually somebody’s crazy or their attorney’s died or s.omething you know—

RF: Yeah.
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TS: -- you know, there’s always something that explains why its there but...

+

(51:39)
RF: Tell the story about Jim Bailey who was a clown, real good lawyer—

TS: Good judge.
RF: Yeah, good judge, ahhhh. . the case of Gacy was assigned to Judge Garippo and...
TS: (in background) that’s the guy I was trying to (indecipherable)

RF: And he had the case at, that they sent, Gacy to his courtroom, and Bailey knew that
Gacy was over in the special jail. And so Bailey went on over and picked up a, one of
these sheets from the psychiatrists’ office and wrote, Gacy is sane now, but was insane at
the time of the commission of the crime, which means that he walks. Well, he took this
medical report that he jiggered up—

TS: (Indecipherable)
LT: (Chuckle)

RF: He gave it fo, sent it on up to Garippo. Garippo looked at it and he says “I gotta
release this son of a b, killing all these people! He’s sane now and he was insane at the
time of the commission of the crime — means he walks!™” So he calls up over the hospital
and he wanted to talk to doctor, what was the guy over there at the time?

TS: Oh...

RF: So he called him and he said “Who is this Dr. Kalanko?” Well he says, “I don’t
know.” He says, “Why?” He says “That son of a bitch, he just got through with Gacy
telling me he was insane at the time of the commission of the crime and he’s now in-,
he’s now sane, that means I gotta let him walk!” He says “The newspapers are full of it,
they’ll kill me.” And he says “Kalanko? I don’t have a Kalanko over here.” And he says,
“Well, I got this report in front of me.” He says, “Boy, it’s not from our court.” So he
says “That’s God damned Bailey!”

(Laughter)

RF: Bailey used, he took it on up to Bailey, said “You dirty rotten son of a b. Bailey says
“Well he’s sane, isn’t he?” He says “If you ever do this to me again,” he says, “I'll kill
you, you Irish son of a b!” '

(Laughter)

RF: And he walked out. And of course, Bailey was always doing those things. God!
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(54:10) : :

LT: What was it like having all these, you know, if a high profile case, I mean obviously
Gacy’s one of the most high profile you can think of, but I mean, what was the
atmosphere like when you had to deal with a high profile case?

RI: Well, I mean, you just assigned it and they got him up to the courtroom and these
guys were able to handle him.

LT: Mmm-hmm.
RF: I mean, we didn’t have any cases that anybody couldn’t handle, hell, you just took it.

TS: It’s unpleasant when the newspapers try the case before it ever gets to the
courtroom—

R¥: Oh yeah, that’s the bad part of it. And they pretrial it. Course you tell ‘em, “Listen to
the evidence and see what you come up with,” but...

TS: You know, it doesn’t matter what actually happened, you have to make a decision on
what’s presented in your coutriroom.

RF: That’s right.

LT: Mmm-hmm, uh hum, uh hum, right.

TS: And according to the rules too.

LT: Mmm-hmm,

RF: Absolutely.

LD: Are we ready to ask, yeah?

LT: Yeah, sure.

(55:19)

LD: Okay. So you retired, you said, at age 78, and what prompted you to consider
retirement, you had been on the bench 27 years. Were there any specific thoughts that
you had that prompted you to retire? ,

RF: No I just (clears throat), just had it I mean —

(Laughter)
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RF: After 27 years you know, you want to, you want to look at different oceans and that
was the reason and I ended up at Winston & Strawn. It’s a big firm, Jim Thompson was
over there at'the time. Jim and I were good friends. And when I hit 80 I suddenly decided
“What the hell are you doin’? 80 years old and you’re still up here practicing law? You
gotta have holes in your head!” So I went in to see Jim and I said “Jim, I’ve had it.” I
says, “I’m 80, I’m gonna get the hell out of here.” I said “1 don’t have much time left.”
So he says “Well I don’t blame you. Go ahead.” And he said, “Nothing around here that’s
prompting you?” I said “No, everybody’s been great to me.” And so ...

TS: And here you are 13 years later.
(Laughter and indecipherable)

RF: But we, my wife and I, traveled all over the world, hell we must have had 15 cruises
and so we enjoyed ourselves. So I got, hell there’s no place I want to go, guys are talking
about having me go down to Florida with them and I’d just as soon sit on the porch and
read or go down there and watch television. And I don’t play golf, [ haven’t played golf
in ten years, since my wife was laid up, so... these left handers’d probably beat the hell
out of me now.

(Laughter)

RF: So I’'m not about to expose myself. But, so, I mean there comes a time in life when,
you know, you’ve had it, I mean the work doesn’t necessarily force you out because 1
was never under that much pressure and I enjoyed doin’ what I was doin’ and I enjoyed
workin® with the fellas I was workin® with. They were all super great guys, all dedicated.
(57:58)

TS: Were you as much of a mentor to the younger guys as you were to my friend, the
assessor?

RF: A little bit, you know, you go back to the old psychiatrist, I mean don’t try to—
TS: Fix it.

RF: --fix it. I mean if they ask you a question about procedure and things of that sort,
you know, you can guide ‘em on because that’s something you know something about.
When it comes to psychiatric approaches, that ain’t your ticket!

(Laughter)

RF: So keep away.

TS: But being there as a friend was always something you did.
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RF: Oh yeah, [ mean they would ask for counseling, I’ve, “This is my problem. I’ve got
a problem.” The evidence, the state’s attorney, public defender, so you, you can counsel
‘em on those things because you been through it.

TS: And was that sort of part of your role as presiding judge?

RF: Ithink a little bit. Every morning at least three or four’of the guys would coﬁle in.
TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: And we’d sit down and talk and (telephone rings)

TS: Want me to hand this to you?

RF: Yeah. Hello?

(RECORDED TURNED OFF WHILE JUDGE FITZGERALD TOOK TELEPHONE
CALL. END OF AUDIO FILE 2)
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(BEGINNING OF AUDIO FILE 3)
TS: .. lifelonig friendship.

RF: He’s quite a guy, [ tell you. He... he has more moxie than... He’s always giving
me books. ’

(Laughter)

RF: Just finished the last one. Lincoln’s Wrath. And, boy, Itell you, it opens your eyes
when you figure what happened in 1861. These newspapers, if they were against the war
and against Lincoln. They went in, and destroyed the press, destroyed the whole building.
Boy, they didn’t fool around.

TS: Yeah.

(Laughter)

(0:42)
TS: Isn’t that the last time we suspended habeas corpus in this country?

RF: That’s right. There was no habeas corpus. And, it was really enlightening. They
had one heck of a time. But of course you can understand, I mean here they are fighting
a war.

TS: For their survival,

RF: For their survival, yeah. These guys are out there saying you shouldn’t do it.
People in Maryland, I mean geez, they were all pro-South.

TS: Yeah. You were completely surrounded in Washington.

RF: Sure. Gee, I tell you.

TS: By sympathizers or enemies. Either one.

RE: I can understand. If I was there, I think I'd be torturing ‘em myself.
{(Laughter)

RF: Do my {wo to six.

(Launghter)

(1:30)
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LT: That’s interesting that the judge just called, because I was thinking, I was going to
ask you, if you have kept in touch with a lot of the judges since you’vé retired?

RF: Pretty much, yeah. We...Hourihane is the great adviser. We have occasional
. meetings with Judge Marovich, Judge--

TS: He’s out this way here isn’t he?

RF¥: Yeah. He’s out here now. He was up in Lake Geneva.

TS: Oh.

RF: He sold his place and he’s over here, a little closer now, with his kids--

(2:05)
TS: He went on the federal bench after he was at 13" and Michigan.

LT: Okay.

RF: Yeah. So we keep in touch with quite a few of them.

TS: He knows Republicans.

(Laughter)

RF: Yeah.

LT: Imagine that.

RF: Yeah, how about that?!

LT: And you talk to each other?

RF: Yeah, sure. 1tell you. But... Yeah, they’re great guys.

(2:34)

LT: And I’know you’ve gotten a lot of awards, it looks like. Are any of these
particularly special to you over the years? It looks like, you showed a couple of
(indecipherable) and we’re going to see some of your memorabilia later.

RF: The, I think last year was the Catholic judge of the year. And then this other one
here is, received last year or so. So, that old adage, you can fool some of the people some

of the time. ‘

(Laughter)
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%1 3%Vhat is this one here? Thisisa ... That’s the...
LT: For th:a -I-llinois State Bar Association?

RF: Yeah.

LT: Board of Governors award.

RF: And this is the one on...

LD: Wow, very nice.

LT: Is this the photo from that presentation?

RF: No, that’s the...

(3:42)
LD: That’s the John Paul Stevens award?

RF: Yeah.

LD: Yes. And I had made a note to ask about that because this is actually Justice
Stevens sitting--

TS: Yeah, the Chicago Bar set that up in his honor. And he comes back for it every year.
LT: Oh, wow.

RT: This is the Governor’s award.

(4:01)

LT: Oh, the Governor’s award. This is the one that goes with this one. The Board of
Governors award.

LD: (reading from plague) “In recognition of your years of service to the legal
profession and your encouragement and mentoring of others to help them to have more
productive lives.”

TS: Who is this from?

LD: The board of, the Illinois State Bar Association. The Board of Governors award.

TS: Yeah, that’s a fair evaluation.

RY: 1 wrote that myself, that’s the only reason.
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LT: (laughs) Qh, I doubt it.
LD: Here’; fhat.

RF: Here’s some of ‘em.
LT: Wow.

(4:51)
LD: What is the criteria for the John Paul Stevens Award?

TS: It’s to lawyers, but some of ‘em are judges.
LT: Oh, okay.

TS: But, it’s for something outstanding.

RF: This is the...

LT: The John Paul Stevens Award one. This is the Catholic
Lawyers Guild of Chicago.

LD:; Mmm-hmm.

(5:18)
RY: That’s the cardinal.

LT: Oh, that’s you and the cardinal, yes.

RF: I can commit three mortal sins and he’ll forgive me.
{Laughter)

LT: Is that what he told you?

TS: That’s all? Only three?

(Laughter)

RF: Well, that’s because I had so many before.
(Laughter)

TS: Okay. That’s fair,

... This is the Catholic
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RF: There’s Bailey.

TS: Oh my. God! (laughs) Yeah. Laughing! Oh these are great,

(5:49)

LT: Oh, this is the gentleman you were talking about who was the escape artist. Gene
Lewis.

RF: Yeah, yeah.

LT: That’s his name?

(6:03)

TS: When they finished the new building out there and then redid those old, that old
space into courtrooms they finally brought us down out there instead of at 13" and
Michigan.

RF: Oh yeah.

TS: When I got there, I think Garippo just recently left or left shortly after I got there.
And it became clear that Bailey was going to use me they way he used Garippo as the
butt of his jokes.

(Laughter)

RF: Oh, he's a character. Geez. 1tell you.

TS: He had to find somebody who would give it back as good as he got it. [ still see him
around.

RF: He, he’s practicing law with his, with his kids. And...I guess he’s doing alright.
He’s been sick, and not doing too well.

TS: 1 guess he still got his Popeye Chicken franchises.

RF: Yeah, he still owns that building.

TS: That’s amazing. (laughs)

RF: Can you imagine that? I thought that--

TS: Ttold him it was a conflict of interest. Right across the street from the courthouse,
(Laughter) |

RF: That's right.

69



TS: No place glse'you can go to get a good meal.

RF: Yeah. -Lﬁither go to the penitentiary or go in my dog stand.
(Laughier)

RF: Idon’t know what the hell these ate.

LT: T think the letters announcing... that’s the one from the Hlinois State Bar
Association that you're getting the Board of Governors award.

(7:46)
RF: This is Eddie Burke and the city.

LT: Eddie Burke. So you got a resolution in your honor from the Chicago City Council?
RF: Yeah. Big deal.

(Laughter)

TS: Yeah. The hardest part of that is getting on the agenda.

(Laughter)

TS: 1don’t know they’ve ever voted one down.

(Laughter)

(8:14)
LT: Did any of your kids go into law, also?

RF: No.

LT: No? They decided not to?

RF: No. Yeah, they’re too smart.

(Laughter)

(8:23) ‘ - _
TS: Let me tell you a story about this guy you know about the problems that fall to the

chief judge, presiding judge. Gotta keep that clear.

LT: Right.
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TS: Chief judge is over the whole thing.

LT: Right, the whole thing.

(8:39) :

TS: The presiding judge is... I had a case where a black guy, young black man was
accused of raping a white woman. And while that was pending on my call, the attorney
walked into, I was at 13™ and Michigan, the attorney walked into courtroom out at 26™
Street where my daughter was testifying about her rape case where she’d been raped by a
black woman, a black man while she was babysitting, And so the guy came in and
demanded I recuse myself because of the similarity of... And I said I wouldn’t. Isaid,
“You can’t disqualify a judge just because he’s a victim of crime. You couldn’t get
anybody to sit in criminal court. Everybody’s been a victim.”

(Laughter)

TS: So but, I had, I wrote him a letter, laid it all out. And (indecipherable) said do what
think is best.

RF: Sure.

I.T: Sounds like you really trusted your judges.

(9:42)

RF: Oh, they were all, there wasn’t a single guy out there that wasn’t the best. I’ll show
you that gun down here. ‘

LT: Yeah!

TS: That’s the fun one.

RF: Yeah.

I.D: Should I continue with this?

(walk downstairs into living room/basement)

LT: Yeah, you might as well bring it down while he tells us about it I guess. Sore leg?
LD: Arthritis in my knee.

-_ LT: Ohno!

TS: You’re too young. I have (indecipherable)

(10:20)
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LD: Oh, look at that!
RF: There it is.

LT: Wow!

LD: Look at that!

(10:28)
LT: So how did you come in possession of the gun then? How did you get this?

RF: The State’s Atforney gave it {0 me.
LT: Really?

RF: Yeah.

TS: Was that a Bible?

RF: Itwasa...

LT: It says Edgar Allen Poe.

RE: Edgar'Allen Poe.

LT: Humor and Satire on the other page.
{Laughter)

REF: Fantastic.

TS: And just think, defacing a book.

(Laughter)

LT: Yeah. A good Poe book, put a gun in there. And it was loaded. I don’t know guns.

What type of gun was that?

RF: Ithinka .38

LD: 1 was going to say, it looks like a snub-nosed .38
LT: Idon’t know, I don’t know guns.

TS: That’s to ybur credit.
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(Laughter)

LT: Thanks.

(walking to other side of basement)

TS: You have a very comfortable living area.

RF: Oh we enjoy it. I picked this up in Marrakech.

LT: Wow.

RF: 1had a hell of a fight with the guy.

{Laughter)

TS: Did you bargain?

(11:23) :

RF: Yeah, oh yes. The President appointed me to the Harry Truman Scholarship

Foundation. We go to Washington four times a week, a year. And...

(11:45)
TS: What sort of scholarships do they... What subjects? Government?

RF: Pretty much.

TS: Yeah.
RF: Whatever they wanted to get into.

(11:54)
LT: Did you meet with other judges then or was it...?

RF: There was the secretary of treasury, the secretary of ... what the hell was he?
TS: Secretary of State George Schultz here.

(12:09)

RF: Yeah. Here’s the, this shoe the judges gave me. I was hearing a case. A guy came
up from Statesville. And they wear these big boots, shoes, you know. They cut ‘em off
about here, and sort of make a sandal out of ‘em. And I was hearing this case. And geez,
I, I looked up and 1 heard this hell awful ‘thump.” And I saw this shoe going at the jury
and bingo here was coming one at me. So I dodged, you know. Took the guy and threw
ER ' him the hell out of the courtroom. '

73




(Laughter)

RF: “What the hell is wrong with you?” He’s, “Well, I just got mad that’s all.”
(Laughter)

RF: And he says, “Judge can I have my shoes back?”

(Laughter)

RF: I says, “If you gnarantee me you won’{ throw ‘em, I’ll let you have them.” He said,
“Honest to God, I won’t.” So I gave him back his shoes.

(Laughter)
RF: The judges all signed that thing.
(Laughter)

(13:21)
TS: Who gave you the ‘World’s Greatest Democrat?’

RF: Oh! I forget who the hell that was.
(Laughter)

TS: A friend, obviously.

{Laughter)

LT: Not one of your Republican friends?
(Laughter)

(13:33) '
RF: No. This is one I got from Illinois State Bar. Let me open it.

TS: On the ledge.

TS: Oh, a medal.

RF: .Yeah, I got a medal, too. Hov(zr‘bout that?

LT: Oh that’s another one from the Illinois State Bar.

(13:57)
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LD: (reading from letter) “Medal of merit in recognition and appreciation of innovative
leadership in improving the judicial system of Cook County and the contribution to the
bar of Illinois.” '

RT: Sure, I wrote that myself.

(Laughter)-

TS: And you said you couldn’t write.

LT: Yeazh!

(Laughter)

TS: You write very well.

(14:19)
RF: That’s the Back of the Yards group gave me that.

LT: Which, the bust of Kennedy?

RF: Yeah.

(14:29)

LT: I was looking at this bottle of whiskey over here or something. Says ‘Happy
Birthday.’

RF: Yeab.

TS: You haven’t gotten it very far down.
LT: No!

RY: That’s all diminished by itself,
(Laughter)

TS: Yeah, evaporation. Shrinkage.

(14:45)

RF: Here was the, you probably don’t remember. This guy.

LT: Termible Tommy.

RF: Tommy.
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LT: Tommy O’Connor.

(14:58) .-

RF: Tommy O’Connor. He was THE outstanding hold-up man in Chicago. This is
the...He was sentenced to hang, and they had the gallows out there in the county jail.
And of course he escaped, so the gallows were still up there. And so they couldn’t tear
‘em down. So they came to me while I was still up at 26", and the, this is the thing that
pulls out--

TS: Oh dear.

RF: It opens up—

T8: The trap door.

RF: --the trap.

LT: Oh wow!

LT: (reading from object) “Built for Tommy 55 years ago, Tommy then decided to
blow.”

TS: (reading from object) “Scaffolds were destroyed in *77, did yoﬁ make it to heaven?”
(Laughter)

LT: Tommy did you make it to heaven? Oh wow.

RF: Sheriff gave me this.

TS: That’s great.

(Laughter)

(16:00)
LT: And they never found him?

RF: No, never did.
LT: Wow.

RF: Quite a guy. ..What I did was all these plaques and things that I got, I’ve got an
island up in Canada— . '

TS: Uh huh.
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RF: --and we, my son goes up there quite a bit now, so I told him, “Take all these damn
plaques, put ‘em up on the wall up there.” I says, “I don’t want to see ‘em anymore. We
got no room for ‘em here at the house.” So he did, so they’re all up there.

(Laughter)

TS: That’s better than a moose head or something.

(Laughter)

RE: That’s right. Yeah. Let’s see...Captain, or Admiral Gallery gave that...

LD: (Reading from plaque) From the Commanding Officer of the recruit training
company at Great Lakes. Huh!

RF: Oh yeah, I gave the speech up there for ‘em.

(17:02)
TS: Do you work out? [TS was looking at treadmill in RF basement].

RF: 1, ten minutes a day—

TS: Well, that’s—

RF: -1 haven’t since I got a fibrillator here—
TS: Oh, you do—-

RF: -- they gave me. So they said, “Wait a couple of months before you get on there,”
But I, ten minutes a day—

TS: Yeah, that’s good.

RF: --is good enough.

TS: Yeah, keeps the blood flowin’.

RF: Yeah.

(17:25)

LD: Did you want to show us your degree from, your honorary degree from John
Marshall? -
RF: Ohyeah. It’s sittin’ right up here.

LD: Okey-doke.
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RF: This is ail my garbage.

(Laughter)‘

LT: The ones that didn’t make it up to Canada? (Laughs) -
RF: Yeah.

LT: This is (reading from plaque) John Marshall Law School Honorary Doctor of Laws.
It’s from 1980. Very nice.

RF: Just goes to show you I can even fool John Marshall.
(Laughier)

TS: What’s the J?

LT: Richard J. Fitzgerald. What’s the J?

RF: Yeah. James.

LT: James?

TS: James.

LT: Was that your father’s name or someone else’s name?
RF: Yeah. My dad’s name is James.

LT: Was James.

RF: Well, I’m not gonna go through all that...

Laughter and indecipherable.

RF: Enough is enough.

LT: Right. Great.

(18:28) _
TS: Did Hourihane give you the John Adams biography?

RF: Well, T haven’t started that.

TS: You have the McCullough book?
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RF: Yeah. Have you read it?

TS: No, I've read, you know, I pretend to be literate by reading the book reviews.
(Laughter)

RF: Well you're better off than I am.

TS: No, it was quite a...Do you know the story behind this bunch of biographies of John
Adams? Has to do with the danger of appointing a literate person to a job that should be
held by a bureaucrat. The Massachusetts Toll Highway Commission had a, somebody
that was literate as its chairman. They came, laid out the route of the Massachusetts
Tollway, and it went right through the middle of the Adams family farm.

(Laughter)

TS: And the guys, the designated family member did show appropriate outrage: “We are
a national, sacred symbol. You can’t do that to us.” He said, “Well, we can if we want,
but Il tell you what "1l do. I’ll make you a deal.” And the guy looked at him and said,
“What’s the deal?”’ Said, “You people have been sitting on the Adams family papers for
200 years, and won’t let anybody at them. If you will release them for publication, we’ll
re-route the turnpike.”

(Laughter)

RF: Isthat right?!

TS: So they did—

RF: Is that right?!

TS: And the papers suddenly became available for—

RF: Well, P’il be.

{Laughter and indecipherable.)

LT: And all these Adams books since (laughs).

_TS: Be careful who you appoint to burcaucratic positions.

{Laughter)

RF; Yeah, that’s right.
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LT: This is the Spencer Tracey picture.

LD: Mmm-hmm.

(Laughter)

LT: “Like God would look if God were a judge.”
(Laughter)

LT: In your own little plaque.

TS: Has it been a good summer on your porch?
RF: Oh yeah.

TS: I would think so.

RF: Just great.

TS: Yeah.

(20:31)
TS: Does your fibrillator allow you to have a little nip in the afiernoon sometimes?

RE: You know, I’m only drinking wine these days.
TS: Uh huh.

RF: 1 generally go down to Shaw’s and have lunch with Bailey and Marovich and the
gang —

TS: Mmm-hmm,

RF: --and I have a glass there. And, (Ilaughs) Hourihane and I and Marovich were
having lunch at Shaw’s, and I had a glass of wine, and those are huge glasses—

TS: Oh, they do.

(Laughter)

TS: They’re generous.

RF: --s0,T had a glass of wine and Hourihane said to me, he said, “You know,” he said,
“I’m the dumbest son of a bitch in the world.” He says, “Here I am riding in the car with
a 92 year old judge”— ' '
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(Laughter)

RF:

—“half-stiff—

(Laughter)

RF:

-- “in the Loop of Chicago™—

(Laughter)

RF:

and he said, “I can’t imagine any sane man doing what I’m doing.”

(Laughter)

RF:

So I said, “Well you stupid son of a b.”-~

(Laughter)

RE:

--T said, “You were never in such good hands in all your life!”

(Laughter)

REF:

TS:

RI:

T8:

RF:

TS:

RE:

TS:

REFE:

TS:

RF:

But, I mean, he’s coming out tomorrow he said—
Oh good.

- S0...

Does he get out here occasionally?

We get out...I used to go into Shaw’s every week-—
Yeah, I remember that—

-- and, uh, but—

-- the drive gets a little—

-- the Dan Ryan now is an hour to get in -

;- yeah, so that’s too much

-- s0 I figure, why the hell should I break my rear-end to go down and listen to those

guys pontificate?
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(Laughter)

RF: Telling-a bunch of lies, insulting me, and then have the audacity to have me pick up
the check!

(Laughter)

RF: Isaid, “Boy, talk about insult to an injury—

{Laughter)

RF: -- they really hang it on, but uh...So I go in maybe once a month—
TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: -- and Hourihane comes out and George Marovich comes out quite a bit, and we go
out to one of the local restaurants. And it’s good.

TS: Good.

RF: Would you care to have a touch of wine on your (indecipherable)?
LT: Oh, no thank you.

(Laughter)

RF: Okay

LT: Very tempting, thank you. (Laughs).

(23:07)

L.D: Are there any other reflections on the American justice system that you’d like to
offer us before we wind this down?

TS: Which way is it going?

(Laughter)

RF: Well, I think the additions to the Supreme Court, the last two appointments, were
excellent,

TS: Yeah.

RF: And I think that the Supreme Court has been handling the cases that have been
coming before them in a manner that I certainly approve of. :
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TS: Very professional.

RF: Very definitely. And, of course, they don’t ask me, they go ahead and decide ‘em
anyway.

(Laughter)

TS: Well that’s an oversight.

(Laughter)

RF: Yeah, they call me after they decide. But, no ! think the judicial system in the
United States is excellent and we have some outstanding members on that Supreme Court
and [ think our own Supreme Court [referring to the Illinois State Supreme Court], Tom
Fitz and those kids, are doing a wonderful job. And I think Tom’s background warrants
that he have a broad view on the cases that come before him, sitting in the criminal court.
And he’s very knowledgeable, and—

TS: Do you know Anne Burke very well?

RF: Imet her a couple of times, yeah. Now she is a, she’s going to be an outstanding
judge.

TS: (Indecipherable) everything she’s done, she’s done well.

RF: She has. Appellate Court she did well, and, of course her husband, Eddie, is quite a
guy. Ilike Ed.

TS: Yeah, he’s charming.

RF: He is. He’s not the typical alderman in the city—
TS: No, no.

R¥: --of Chicago.

(Laughter and indecipherable.)

TS: Not by a long shot. He’s not Vrdolyak.
(Laughter)

RF: No. Iunderstand Eddie’s in trouble.

TS: That’s what I hear.
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RF: Yeah. You know, I had, I knew Eddie, oh God, 20 years ago,--
TS: Oh really?

RF: -- and Steve Shiller invited me up to the hotel, he lives there, up in the Near North
Side,--

TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: -- and he and his brother and this other fellow were there and I was trying to figure
out who the hell this guy was, and it was Eddie Vrdolyak.

TS: Oh my.

RF: And here we were having lunch. Now I hadn’t seen Eddie in 20 years, but he’s got
heavy jowls—

TS: Jowl—

RF: -- and I didn’t recognize the guy. 1 was lunching with him for half an hour before I
finally decided who the hell he was.

(Laughter)
TS: You didn’t have to ask, you finally figured it out.

RF: What a hell of an insult to Eddie Vrdolyak, yeah. But, he does a great job. I don’t
know whether I’ve answered you question or not—

LD: Mmm-hmm, yeah.

RF: But, no, I've got a lot of respect for the Supreme Court. They have some tough,
toughies—

'TS: Tough calls. Tough calls.

RF: -- yeah,..

(26:47)

LT: What about the Cook County justice system? Do you think they’re in pretty good

shape?

RF: 1 think by and far, you know, you get some weak ones in there, the majority of the
guys are, | think, pretty well qualified—

. TS: Mmm-hmm.
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RF: -- and they try to do a good job. They respect their positions, and they, most of
them, act like judges should. And, as I say, you’re always going to find one or two out of
180 judges that are falling by the wayside.

TS: Or any other group.

LT: Mmm-hmm.

RF: That’s right, or any other group. God, look at the Congress.

(Laughter)

TS: Itry notto. (Whistles)

RF: Itell you. Here’s another situation where, “I thought I could get away with it.”
TS: Yeah.

RF: “I didn’t think they’d catch me.”

TS: Yeah, and why they thought...

RF: And it’s, you look at ‘em and you just say to yourself, “there’s the typical™—
TS: Yeah.

RF: -- “there’s the typical.” And it’s...

TS: Well I've always had the opinion that our criminal justice system was excellently set
up to caich dumb criminals.

(Laughter)

RF: (Laughs) Yeah, that’s right. We could be stupid and still outdo them.
(Laughter)

RF: (Coughs). Yeah.

TS: You never know how many smart ones there are out there, but the dumb ones we all
see in the courtroom. ' '

RF: Yeah, the smart ones we don’t catch.
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LT: (Laughs) Yeah, like Tommy O’Connor there, the one who escaped from the
gallows.

RF: Yeah, he was, back in the 20s he was the Al Capone of his day. And they never did
catch him. Gosh...

TS: Who was the guy that did this Suzanne Degnan murders way back? At the '
University of Chicago?

RF: Oh, the...

TS: Richard somebody...He was--

RF: Two brothers—

TS: -- no, oh that, no, not the earlier one, the Leopold and Loeb,--

RF: Ohno?

TS: - this was a single guy and he just came up for parole again recently but they—
R¥: Turned him down?

TS: --yeah. What was his name? It was one of those things that dominated the news for
six months in town here...

R¥: Boy, my memory is...
TS: Well, it’s about on the par with mine. (Laughs)
(Laughter)

RF: 1tell you, I...should know because we went up to Danny Wild’s funeral up at the
" University of Chicago—

TS: Ch yeah.
RF: --and we drove around that campus. It’s the first time I’ve been inside the campus.
TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: That’s the most fantastlc place in the world. Good Lord Almighty! Building after
building, after building.

TS: It's incredible. Every place they can find a square foot of ground—
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RF: Yeah, and they’re building more—

TS: Yeah...

RF: Good Lord!

TS: That new business school-—

RF: That’s fantastic isn’t it?

TS: Yeah.

RF: Geez, Itell ya. But...

TS: What happened to Danny Wild? Ididn’t follow that?
RF: He died about two months ago.

TS: Of what?

RF: We, they don’t know—

TS: Oh.

RF: -- I’ve never heard, but I think it was a heart--
TS: Uh huh.

RF: --he had some problems. In fact, I was supposed to have lunch with him on
Wednesday—

TS: Ohmy.

RF: -- and he died on Monday.

TS: Geez.
RF: But...fantastic guy.
TS: Yeah. He worked with Thompson.

RF: Yeah.

TS: Yeah.

RF: He and Thompson were very, very close.




TS: Yeah, that’s what I heard.

R¥: Aund, in fact, Thompson had his inaugural party down at the State House in the
mansion—

TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: -- and Danny and his mother and dad were down there, and they invited Ruth and
[—-

TS: Oh really?

RF: --so we went on down there with the Thompson’s.
TS: Mmm-hmm.

RF: His wife is a very pleasant woman.

TS: Yeah. 1never knew her but-—-

RF: Oh yeah, she’s smart as hell--

TS: -- but I heard (indecipherable)—

RF: --she’s smarter than he is, I think.

(Laughter)

TS: 1t’s often the case.

(Laughter)

RE: (Laughs) Yeah. The woman is always the leader of the tribe. '
(Laughter)

TS: [Speaking to LT and 1.D] So you gotta, you exercise restraint in exercising your
power,

LT: (Laughs) Yeah.
TS: Be kind to us.

LT: Just (laughter and indecipherable)



RF: What year’re you in?

LT: Well, we're graduate students.

RE: Oh, you are graduate students?

LT: So yes, we just started graduate school--

RF: Oh, oh.

LT: At Loyola.

TS: History students.

LT: Yes, public history. So we’re in oral history class at Loyola and that’s what we’re
doing, this is part of that oral history class so...Judge Swain knows Dr, Manning there.
They’ve been working together on this project.

RF: Oh yeah.

TS: 1t’s the only person I know that ever got married with two judges. Jim Henry, who’s
the, do you know Jim at all? :

R¥: Yeah, 've—

TS: He's—

RF: -- he talked to me a couple of times on getting together but—
TS: -- yeah—

RF: -- we never did.

TS: --but, he did the main ceremony. 1 was sitting in the back of the chapel, in case he
faltered, I would be prepared to— '

(Laughter and indecipherable)

TS: -- for Professor Manning. He got married during the middle of this project.
{Laughter)

RF: Oh great.

LT: I can’t think of any other questions.
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LD: Nor can [~

TS: (Indecipherable)

4

LLD: -- so this will end the interview. We can contin...

END OF AUDIO FILE 3. END OF INTERVIEW.
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Appendix [

Articles

During the interview, Judge Fitzgerald showed some of the awards and memorabilia he
received during his career and after his retirement. In addition, he presented four articles
which incorporated some mention of him. Liz Trantowski and Lisa Davis have included
photocopies of these articles. The four articles are:

Demaret, Kent. “A Tough Chicago Judge Shows How to Throw the Book at Repeat
Offenders—And Make It Stick.” People, June 27, 1983, 37-38.

Goldman, Peter and Don Holt. “How Justice Works: The People vs. Donald Payne.”
Newsweek, November 8, 1971, 20-37

“Between a Rock and a Hard Case.” Time, October 13, 1980, 73

“CBA News: Six Prominent Attorneys Receive ‘Justice Stevens Awards’ Chicago Bar
Association Record, November 2001, 22
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. troop of manacled prisoners re-
-cently making their way out of a Chica-
go courthouse passed a dapper, white-
haired gent in the hallway. “Who's that
dude?" asked one hawk-faced con,
nodding toward Judge Richard Fitzger-
ald; 69. Cautioned a handcutfed buddy:
“Man, that's Father Time.”

To hardened felons, Fitzgerald's
name indeed means time—tha kind
spent waiting for.a file In a cake. As the
creatdr of Ghicago’s “Rock Court”
lErem the jalihouse acronym fof Re~

Dol peat Offenders Court), the judge insti-

. tuted & system-of guick-step trials and
_ sﬁem semenc‘mg’-‘that is fast besommg

- a nation'at model. Atleast 15 states

are now studying his Rock Court's no-
nonsense, slam-the-door approach to
justice.

Repeat offenders became a Fitzger-
ald fixation in 1977 when the lorigtime
Democrat, known throughout his ca-
reer as a liberal, was appointed presid-
ing judge of the Cook County Circuit
Court’s hard-pressed criminat division.
He soon discovered that over 70 per-
cent of the armed robbers, rapists, bur-
glars and car thieves appearing before

his judges were ex-convicts back for an .

encore. Yet overloaded dockets and

‘the defendants’ right to demand time-

- Photographs by Dale Wittner

Fitzgerald's small arsenal of rubber
stamps helps him speed throughRock
Court’s staggering load of 70 cases aday,

consuming jury trials led to plea bar-
gaining, and a reduction of charges, in
nine out of 10 cases. Many of the crimi
nals would scon return to court
charged with yet another crime, and
the whole process would begin again.
“Repeat offenders are, sad to say,
pathoicgical when It comes to commit
ting crlme," asserts Fitzgerald. " They
won’t stop uniess they are made to
stop. So If they are going to be career
criminals, we'll give themn certain and
swift seniences and keep them off the
streets, And we'll keep it up until we
dry them out, untii they get old enougt
s0 they are no longer a threat.”
CONTINUE
3



-ather Time,” heve on a visit to county
" jaflysays; “The bad ones know that In Roek
. Gourt we play hardbail.”

To make his plan work, Fitzgerald
set up the Repeat Offenders Court—

. though, to avoid pretrial bias, itis not

publicly identified as such to potential
jurors—and assigned four of his 42
judges to it. Then he ordered prosecu-
tors to speed up their pretrial prepara-
tions and come to court ready to face a

jury. The lliinois State Legisiature, after

listening to Fltzgerald's testimony,
passed laws calling for tougher, man-
datory brison sentences for most re-
pedt felons and life without parole for
those judged to be habitual criminals.,
Thanks to the speed-up, says Fitz-
gerald, Rock Court cases are complet-
ed in half the time of regular criminal
trials, Plea bargaining has been re-
duced by 25 percent, and the convie-
tion rate is now a remarkable 90 per-
cent. When critics complained that the

new hurty-up sourts were violating de- .

tendants’ rights to due process of law,
Fitzgerald invited the American Clvil

- theroughly and to ghallenge it if

Liberties Union to'examiine the court

they found anything wrong. “They
looked it over,” he recalls proudly,
“and decided not to challenge.” |
5till, there are those who question
the system. Keith Davis, a Chicago

- criminal defense lawyer and the chair-

man of the Criminal Justice Committee
of the Chicago Council of Lawyers,
says, ""The principle of the court is a
bad one, because in most cases the
identifying of a defendant as a recidi-
vistis inadmissible in court. In Rock

" Court, it’s easy for ajuror to hear from

a guard or another juror that thisisa
repeat offenders’ court, and that de-
prives the defendant of a fair trial.”

In other respects, however, the Rock
Court may be working too well. The
stream of new convicis into already
crowded prisons may prompt lilinois
penal officials to give more felons time
off for good behaviar. That would de-
feat the whole purpose of his reforms,
argues Fitzgerald, who believes bigger
prisons would be a better answer, .

In his youth, Father Time spentore
time on the field than on the bench.
The son of a Chicago balliff, he played
his way through St. Louis University on
a football scholarship and later spent
iwo years playing pro football with the
old St. Louis Gunners after earning his
law degree at his alma mater. After a
career as a banking specialist, he quit
private practice in 1964 to serve as a
divorce court judge. One year later he
moved to the criminal courts.

As he has for years, Fitzgerald ar-

“rives at his office by B a.m. after at-

tending early Mass. Handball three
times a week has kept him fit, and at
night he relaxes with a good read {bi-
egraphies of Churchill are a favorite),
He and Ruth, 70, his wife of 42 years,
share a sprawling home in suburban
South Holland, i, and have two grown
sons and six grandchildren. Although
Fitzgerald claims he'd like more time
to spend with his family~—-and at the
five-acre fishing island he owns in Can-
ada—he insists he’'ll stay on the job un-
tit his present term expires In 1985. To
Fitzgerald’s fans, the implications are
clear, Before thelir favorite judge re-
tires to his island, more career crimi-

"nals will be heading back up the river.

KENT BEMARET

Fitzgerald (at home with granddaughtar
Dantolie, 8) balts up fo go fishing at the
man-made pond adjacent to his home.
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By Peter Goldman and Don Holt

The first time ! walked into the Criminal Court Buitd-
Ing, that odor hit me. That combination of sweat and
anions and Polish sausage. | wanted to turn around and
come out. | saw a guy [ knew in law school and | said,
eWhat the f--- is that smell?” And he said, “That’s tears.”

—Constantine Xinos, an assistant public
defender for Cock County, H!

t is a melancholy place, flyspecked and grimy, a
Hollywood-Egyptian temple squatting heavily and
Aim incongruously among the factories, the freight
yards and the slum housing projects on Chicago’s roiling
West Side. Tts out-of-the-way location is a monument to
the failed business instinet of the late Anton Cermak, the
Chicago politiclan who opened the building on Apil
Fool's Day, 1929, in hopes of sparking a real-estate
boom in his home ward. The boom busted, and only the
courthouse and its neighbor of convenience, the Cook
County Jail complex, are left of Cermak’s vision, Through
its cavernous courtrooms have passed generations of
Chicago’s outlaws and nutcasts—a faceless succession of

bootleggers, hookies, hit men, drifters, thieves, whores, -

petty Mafiosi and lately the black young so thickly in-
volved in the crime of the city streets. In its corridors,
in the smell of food and sweat and tears, the People of
Hlinois through their agents—the police, the prosecu-
tors, the lawyers, the judges—labor imperfectly toward
@ rough approximation of justice.

An 18-year-old named Donald Payne came hand-
cuffed and sullen into the building last year—a tall,
spidery, black dropout charged with the attempted
armed robbery and attempted murder of a white Hg-
yor-store owner in a “changing’ fringe neighborhood.

The police report told it simply: *. . . At2100 Opm]...

Aug. 4, 1970 ... victim stated that two male Negroes
entered his stove and the taller of the two came out
with a gun and announced that this is a holdup, ‘wive
me all of your money.” With this the victim ... walked
away frem the area of the cash register. When he did
this, the smaller offerider shouted ‘shoot him.’ The taller
offender aimed the pistol at him and pulled the trigger
ahout two or three times. The weapon failed to fre.
The offenders then fled . .."” It was a hotched job—no-
body was hurt and nothing stolen—and so Payne in one

sense was only another integer in the numbing statistics

of American crime.

R But the case of the People vs. Donald Payne was in

another sense central to the malaise of the nation’s de- .

caying big cities. Street_crime has contributed power-
fully to that malaise—and street crime in whan America

Tas become in large and growing measurve Negro crime,
The subject has until lately been thought too painful. |:
for public discussion; to raise it has been considered” [’

treasonable among blacks and racist among sympathetic

_ whites. But the statistics commanil attention. One little-.

noted staff study for Liyndon Johnson’s commission on:

violence showed urban arrest rates ten to eighteen:
times higher for Negroes than for whites in serious -

crimes of violence—and up to twenty times higher for

black teen-agers. Another, a seventeen-city survey,.
found blacks suspected of 72 per cent of the eriminal.
homicides, 74 per cent of the aggravated assaults, 70

per cent of the rapes and 85 per cent of the robberie
in which the police made arrests. To acknowledg

these figures is only to recognize the effect on Negroes
of vears of poverty and discrimination in what the Ne- :¥
gro sociologist E. Franklin Frazier once aptly called

“the city of destruction.” To suppress the fipures is to

ignore not only the fears of white people but the pain
of the blacks who are the victims of the vast majority &

of Llack erime.

Donald Payne’s passage from stick-up to station house |

to jail to court and finally into the shadow world of pris-
on says more than any law text or flow chart about the

realities of crime and punishment in America. The qual- i1

ity of justice in Chivago is neither very much better nor

very much worse than in any major American city. The' |

agenly of justice in Chicago are typically overworked,

understafled, disconnected, case-hardened and impos- 1

sibly rushed. Payne protested his innocence o them

every step of the way, even after he pleaded guilty. -

There is, given the evidence, no compelling reason 19
believe him, and no one did—least of all the lawyer
who tepresented him. So the agents of justice hande

him and his case file along toward a resolution that sabis-
fied noue of them wholly. “That we really have & crimi-
nal-justice system is a fallacy,” remarked Hans Mattick,

co-director of the Center for Studies in Criminal Justice.

at the University of Chicago Law Schoo}. “A system i3
artificially created out of no system. What we have 15 &
case.disposition system.” In the winter of 1970-71, the
system disposed of People vs, Payne—and the sum 0
Donald Payne’s case and-tens of thousands more Jus
like it across the nation is the real story of justice 1D
America, -
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‘s de
DWer

e - e . . .
L:+"Too Much Happening'’
“the street. come too late for Donald. He had already begun shdmg :
-his: step- out of school:*it bored him (¢ Theyd be repeatin’ the .
w1th the “same things over and over ‘again, goin' over. the same

© thing, tlié "same "thing”) so he started skipping, and
" when the “school called abeut him, he ‘would pick: up
" tlig phone and put it back dii the hook swithout saymg
aiiything. Maz/be 1 tHought it was too nitch happenin’”
out thére in the streets 1o be goin’ to school Or-chur
either. They hdve to go to chureh
w1t11 us,” says. Cl eoplulus TQdd “For

T They Eought over Don:ﬁ& Payne,—'
gy ob the worlds: zecapitu}ateu e 'housand titnes
‘evely ‘day it the” gneti anly, when i ag

Gy YOI fan never ge far-enc

hn“ceen:yeazs Ago; wasTnariie eIec’muty “he” made a coupIe of lam |
. rumbly-volced nan who pleaches . the school shop, before he stopped going and “broc
' iter ' them home to his mother, and she would ask him why
he didn’t think about trade schopl. He eduld ﬁx eVE] y-'i B
‘thing froin a light to'a. tele\rlslcm set,” she says.. :
all nght as long as*hé was busy, Only timie you had g
worry about hini was wlhen he“bad nothin’ to do:” He-
did work sorietimés, two jobs at once for a while, and -
once he talked to & man working on a ‘house about how.~
“you. get into ‘elecirical work. The man told him_ aho':t
app;entmes ps. aid. gave‘hlm' he. address o
“Bi




W fhth colored’

gverty in the midst of affluence is surely
' the ‘midst ‘of whiteness; so dre

pulsivéiiess: of -life “in 50" enipty
as a ghetto. But no one can say which ones will go
wrong—why a Donald Payne, for example, will get in
trouble while three brothers and two sisters come up
straight. “T told 'em all,” says Todd. “I'm not going to
‘be spending all my time and-money on jail cases fox
"you doing something you don’t need to get into.” Only
Donald got into it. He is an oddly detached and distant
-youth, too much the loner to have fallen in with the
‘fighting gangs—the Black P. Stone Nation (nee the
* Blackstone -Rangers) or the Disciples or the Gangsters
—6F even to have rui with the kids on the block snatch-
ing purses for the sport of it. “I don’t indulge in such
activities,” he says.with a mocking formality, and his
old friends from.the block confirm it. Stll, he did get
run in a few times for disorderly conduct, rgutine for
kids in the ghetto street. And, in. 1968, he was arrested
for burglary.

t was a kid-stuff, Rlling-station job, two tires and a
Esign, and Payne was canght with the tires a few
blocks away. He insisted he was only trying to help a
friend sell them, but Todd says he confessed to the
family (“Sometimes it makes no difference how good a
kid is or-how good he is brought up”) and he wound up
pleading guilty in a deal for a few days in jail and two
years on probation. It came to little: probation in theary
is 2 means to rehabilitation, but probation offices in fact,
in ‘Chicago and around the country, tend to have too
many cases and too little time to do much active re-
habilitating. Payne’s papers were lost for several months
until he finally got scared and came in to find out why
no one had called him. After that, he reported once
every month, riding two hours on buses to see his pro-
bation officer for ten minutes. “We talked about was [
workin” and how was I doin’ out on the street”—that was
all. Once the probation officer referred him to a job

. counselor. Payne never went, and no one seems to have
noticed. :

" And now, at 18, he is in big trouble. Meeting Donald
. Payne, handcuffed in his chair, one is struck first by
. ‘the_remnants of the child: the shy flicking eyes, the

. dark slash of acne, the bravado tilt of the head, the

“T have'no say::

d-the sheer gét-itnow im- - Liguors, an 1

4nd 0 chancy a place -

. rescents and: pink pd

* Avenue, the north-south artery that held for some year,

srEge

pses of th

eVer-rea: EY
e wonders now whé

jeniteritiary at Joliet. “And -thep this.”: . though
vs, redlly, why the stret swallows ug so -

I for Shop-Rite
[ erki tly Irish sectiof
“on Chicago’ “He workéd Hehind the coun
ter for fourteen years, then—when the owner decide
to retire—scraped together the ‘money to buy the 7stbr§
and the connécting neighborhood bar. He installed
flashing blue, white and otange lights and abig ,éléctrij%
display sign outside, brightened the interior with flugy

style shelves with bread, milk i
with the booze and beer. His tradé was mostly wi

the old Trish—the cops,. the firemen, the sanitatio -work

ers. “Real family people,” he says. ("They .come in. an
buy one or two quarts of beer. I can count. the numb
of fights we've had in here-on one hand.”

Now he is 48, going gray and thickening around t
middle, and he has bégun thinking ten years.ahead
his own retirement. -But his options seem to him sudden;
ly narrowed' by blind demographic, forces he can nej
ther control nor completely comprehend-by the.qui
ening scramble of the blacks south: and west out of the
brawling, gang-ridden ghetto called Englewood. Castel
¥’s store is on the west side—the white side—of Ashlang

as a boundary between the races. Now that thin_divid;
is crumbling: the younger whites have begun pullin
out, deserting the trim one- and two-family houses to th
first upwardly mobile Negroes and the. last middle-ag:
tng Irish whose lives and fortunes' are.sunk;.in thel
homes. The neighborhoed is “changing,” and Castel
doesn’t like it. “You can’t cope with the colored;”
says, a frown darkening his round, brown eyes. “The
animals, Animals.” : L .
The blacks no less than Castelli himself are only strif
gling for air, but the view from behind the counter i
marrow and 8 bitter one; urban crime cowits more the
than urban sociology. The thrice-told tales fly endles:fj
between Castelli and his clerk, Fred DeAngelo, a chal
smoking man of 58 with stained fingers. and a narcod
leathery face. Tales of the colored kids whose only 1
is their jail-discharge papers. The young man who fiarg;
menacingly—What you mean?”—when_Joe “aniab
called him “lad.” The fellow who logged. a whole ca

#The names of “Castelli,” his store and his Ic’!e'r-k bave all beed
changed at his reguest, ’




wshland -
€ years
divide:.

pulling
5 to the
[dle-ag:

Sooick into the tooler, emiptied it into a shopping bag

1 walked out. (“The polce stopped him,” DeAngelo
ays, “but all they did was kick him in the pants and
.ond_him back across Ashland.”) ‘The one who filched
“bottle, set it on the counter, lajd a machete alongside
. and asked for a bag to wrap it in. The one who came
. évery day to buy a’can of beer and steal a bottle of
cotch. The endless petty pilfering. “They stick a bottle

-, here”—Castelli tugged out the waistband of lis trou-

ors in front and dropped an imaginary fifth inside--“and

41l you can do is take it opt of their pants. We maybe
}iad that four times a day~we don't even know. These
sen can go, to ten, twenty, thirty stores a day, and you
wotta take the loss.”

ad finally the tall one with the blus-steel .25 and
the scornful half-smile—the one Castelli identified
ster as Donald Payne. He and another, smaller youth
me in the out door that copbl August evening, just as
stelli was stuffing $250 or $300 in recéipts from cash
gister No. 2 into his pocket. “I want that,” the tall one
id. Castelli edged away. “Shoot him! Shodt him!” the
all one yelled. Thé tall one stared at:.Castelli and
ked the gun across .the counter at him. “Mother

-er,” he said: He squeezed the trigger, maybe once, -

aybe two or three times. .

The gun went click. - _ _

The two youths turned and ran. Castelli started after
em, bumped against the end of the counter and went
wn. He got up and dashed outside, but.the youths

sappeared down a dark alley. An old white man’

mptying garbage saw them go by. The tall one pointed
o pisto] toward the sky and squeezed again. This time
wentoff. - A . _
across the street came over and fold

ut of a black Ford: “People around here notice things

ke that,” Castelli says. “They watch.” Castelli found

e car parked néarby and wrpte down the license num-
er. The driver—a third Negro yonth—followed him

ack to the storé. “What. you taking my license fort” he.

emanded. “I was justfwaiting for my wife—T took her
the doctor.” He stocd thete yelling for a while, but
omé’ of Castelli’s' white neighbois- crowded into the

ore, and the black youth left. Castelli went hsck info”

e street, Hagged down an uhmarked police car he

ecognized and handed-over the number, and the hunt
. Y o :

aS'P.;Il.- o

_,aStélIi 'mé_de sorie. changes éftelj: that, He éﬂosed off

fone-of {hie two -doors. He redrranged the floor plan -

o that all the Hquor was behind the counter, only food
nd heer, in the self:service area up-front; And he laid
somie -hardware, The night' of the holdup, he says
sfully, I,._l—iad_a pistol, far away: Now I got a'couple

3wi'th.;g.‘faimf:éci-ge of sufptise: “T don't

Sarg f-i.;ni_i';-~1i~;re1‘i1§_ob-a‘—‘my"ufe—a-:fej.-in:this store; I
hought that.in ten ygars I'd put it up for sale and re-
' ooyt ds-peaple seb this isa-changing neigh-

they wor't Jage, Or they don’t.
6 Y y know you.want -

“anything for it
IR ousloss i T sold jt: But

ix months, maybe. a year.
T Ll

. wnmarked squad car through
Gresham police distiict, watching the alleys and'stoig- .
fr6rits slide past; half-listening to the low staccato of the - -
-radio, exchanging shorthand .grunts with his partmer, -
Tom. Cullen, slouched low in the sedt beside lim. They .. -

-and thexrﬂdd}eofhlsown neight

g says. 'L don’t want to. But

stopped me.” Another day recently, a black in a L -
coat came in end stood briefly with his back to thé’
counter. “He was reaching. into the coat=hé had his.
hand in there and he was turning around, I had the
gun out. If anything had flashed metal 1 would have
shot him.” Castelli paused. “You know what lie had? A -
little puppy. He had a puppy ir* there.” He sighed
heavily, in wonder at what is becoming of him and his *

world. “A puppy,” he said. “I would have shot him.” -

‘ :;‘It’S Never
G-o_ing to Stop’

he evenihg was clear and mellow for August, a cool
TGT and breezy. Patrohnan l.{ma Higgins nosed his
the night places of the .

had been riding for three humdrum hours when, shortly -
after 9 pm., they picked up the callj ganfire in the.
strest up in the north reaches of the district. The two._
cops glanced at one anpther. Cullen got. the mike gut .
of the glove compartment and-fadioed:  “Six .
ing in.” Higgins hit the accolefator and snak
the sluggish night traffic tow -:Sh;;é')-l’si_te' L

. Star_and, in. 1955, went on’

comfortably, he. settled in ‘the

Hat where he live




erely stralite e di
" the-i1968 “Demoeratic” convention. -Joe- Higgins is- anr
“agreeable man. with-spiky blond hair- and -the “begin-
f.a sécond. chin, and. a pi:al'lnch; and he finds the

jot in frouble because you wénte

piesent pass galling, Orice, policing a peace demonsira-
. tion, he asked a student dissident: “So what happens
a0 after .you guys. take over? You'ré going to have laws
" and you're going to'have to have somebady to enforcé
-the#s, §o-you're still going to need us.” And the kid told
* him, “I never thought of that,” L
- Figgins has plenty of time to think about it, riding
the streets with Cullen as a plainclothes. “Tac [for Tacti-
- ¢il] Unit.” The night world sliding past his squad-car
" windows is-in one’ sense changeless: “There was crime
* " hefore I-came on the job, there is crime now and there
' 1be ciime after I'm gone. It's been going on since
Cain and.Abél, and I dor’t think it's ever going fo stop.”
But-crime in the Gresham, district Is changing. There is
meore of it. It is getting younger, and blacker, and brass-
“igr, and unaccountably ore viglent, “It nsed to be,”
says Higgins, “thatif you caught a stick-up man and told
i you were & police officer’ he’d put his hiands up.
w they' Il ry Yo shoot you if they can.” - '

it is coming closer %f}_jhomegfiiggins' lives just a
ocks From Shop-Rite; he “has traded - there for
“years; snd when ke saw Joe Castelli waving in

parked in & deserted “industx .
ranaways, 18.and-17 years'old, otirlei i BTy
“The ‘two-patrolmen : rousted: the: boys gut; searched

front seat.:One-of the ‘boys, thorotghly

" mitted haying: driven the ear but not having gon

hendled the gun . or clicked’

“house in. Roseland-at 9 -a.m, and Yang the bell,
sister let thém in and pointed the way upstairs. -

‘'mean. “Get moving,” someone’ said; “You'ré unde

- shoulder. Maybe—"

.'eﬁ

S

. found-the blué-steel .25 urider a jHCket:'-Eiln th

therm:to a 17-yeai-old némed James Hamiltphi* wh

the store. Hamilton led them o his'kid cousin, Fra

who admitted having gone iﬁ.tp;iclljg' stare bitt not i

Harnilton led thein to Donald Payne, - P
~ And so, red:eyed:and bone-weary, Higgins and
len, .dlong with a~ district” sergeant
detectives,  went to"the littls greer

" Payne was sleepifig when the cops ciowded i_ﬁt{'; ¥
litthe attic’ bedroom, and he came awake cool.al

yest.” ‘The police started rummaging around ‘wh
Payne, jewing all the while, pulled oh-a pair of gre
pants and a‘red jacket. “You don’t have no watrant,
said. As'Payneé told it later, omie. of the cops replied,
got a lawyer on our hands.” But Higgins insists Te
understood—*What I said was we'd get him a lawyer
They marched him out in handeuffs past his moth
took him. to the.district station. and shackled. him to
chair’ while one of the ‘officers} started tapping ‘ol
arrest _report: “paYNE povarp M/N [for male Ne
18 4-10:52 .. " Higgins got-Castelli on the phoné.
Joe, hesaid, come in—we ' think we've. got the m
Castelli came in with DeAngglo. The cops put Pay
into a little back room with a few siray blacks, Cast
picked hini out—and that, for the cops,. was eno
Payne was taken to the Sbuth Sidé branch police he
quartérs to be booked, then led before a magisty
who set bond at $10,000. The, bounty is a paper figu
the Chicago courts require only 10 per cent cash. ]
Payne didn’t have it, and by midafternoon he was
his way by police van to the Cook County Jaill.
Joe Higgins and Tom Cullen by then had wor
twelve hours overtime; in four hours more, Tac Unit 8
was due on patrol apain, They talked a little ah
Donald Payne. “He bad a head on him,” Cullen saic
some wonder, “Maybe if he didn’t have a chip on

J ' JE: “‘Youll |
Have The Hol

Always

H‘che—day’s catch and was marched through a tu
into the white-tiled basement recéiving area. He

questioned, lectured, classified, stripped, showe

photographed, fingerprinted, X-rayed for TB, bi
tested for VD and handed a mimeographed sheg

RULES OF THE COOK COUNTY JA. (%... You will

escape from this institution ... You will be safe W.

you are in this institution .. .”") He says he was ma

down -as a -Blackstone Ranger over his objection

told them I was a little old to be gang-bangin' "—an:

signed to a teen-age tier, E-4. He was issued & W

hand, an ID card and a celling ticket, led upstairs

“*The nemes of “Hamilton™ and his cousin have been changed

" hoth are juyeniles. . .

- Newsweek, March 8n




e mto & tiny 4-by-8 céll with an open toilst, a
gbie nink; two s}feéts“,y-"  bliinket and'a roominate: The
or slammed shat, #nd Donald Payne—charged with
¢ stll presumed innocent of dttempted robbery and
empted murder—began neatly four and 2 half months
hind bars waiting for his trial, A
Jails have long been thie scandal of American justice;
hody even knew how many there were until a recent
deral censiss counted themn (there are 4,037)—and

md many of their 160,000 inmates locked into what -
> official called “less than human conditions of over- -

swding and filth.” And few big-city. jails have had
stories more doleful than Cook County's. The chunky,
v fortress wis thought rather a model of penology
en Antori Cermidk started. it in 1927. But its first
rden hanged himself, and its last but two, an amiable
ronage princeling named Jack Johmson, was sacked
yen a series of investigations found the jail ridden
th drugs; whisky and’homosexual rape and run by
ate bully boys. - N :
olinson gave way to warden (and now director of
‘corrections). Winston. Moore, 41, a roubd black
ddha with wotded eyés, short-shaven hair, & mas-
and a start on a doctorate i psychology and some
sni-handed notions about managing jails and jail ‘in-
te5, Moore's mostly black reform- administration has
ed the inmaite tier bosses; cleaned upithe cells and
 ‘prisoners, repaintéd the place for the fiist time,
d more guards at better pay, started some pioneer-
. work and work-training programs, opened an_ oil-
ting studic in the basement room where the county
Lotiic chait used fo bé and beggeéd free performances
B. King, Ramsey Lewis, Roberta Flack and even,

nus the riude scerie, the Chicago company of “Hair.”
t there hias never been enough cash, 'and lately the
hin Howard Association, a citizens’ watchdog group
at-gave Moore top marks for his fiist year, has turned
“him with a series of reports charging a miscellany of
selties within the walls. And worst of 21l is the desper-
& overcrowding. The tise in-crime and. this- slowkig

pessses of justice have flooded Moore’s 1,300 claus--

T}Phﬁbi,é cells withi 2,000:prisoners,-most of thém dou-

edup at suich close quarters that if one inmate wants -
he toilet, the other has.to climb on’the bunk to.

85 per cent of the inmates are Negro, and

Donald Payrie,;a'ré_ stuck inside hecause. they.

» ‘hail—not hecause they- have been

mes. But'the presumption of guilt in- -
-does so much of American justice, and

squanders little $ympdthy on his charges. He

rage. There.i

_nevertheless-is-a d

5 to get 'tﬁe,i;e.

. Tees than 94 1

B:4.angry at being put with the

' iﬂl fahd::s}'xoxtly A indo ‘& youth-from "his ':_;l_p;_lﬁbk




ay in€ourt””

l-been a member of the Ganigsters. “He had me’
d -as 4 Gavgster, tdo,” Payne says. “He:thought
st scared to say so cause we-were on 4 Black-
.He xagh up in my face and wanied to fight,
'g'l}t-a_n}i I went to The Hole for 30 days and

~hegot Rfteen™ - T _
.~ Sothey. gave Payne a cage, and he sat it out. What
" do you dob.~You sit on the toilet. You wait for the food
to “cirite Hround.” What do’ you think about? “Gettin’
‘oit.”. How do you feel about The Hole leaving it? “It
didp’t matter much,” Not enough, in any case, to keep
him out: He went straight back in for four days for sass-
ing a guard; emergéd with a reputation as a irotble-
“maker- with a “quick attitude” and later did 30 more
when Moore’s men put down a noisy Blackstone hunger
strike on E:d. After that, Payne was-{ransferred to a
men’s Her dnd did a bit better. “Those Rangers,” he
says, “they keep talkin’ about killin’ up people. What
they did when they was outside. What they govna do
when they get out.” The older men by contrast idled
away their time in the dayroom playing chess and cards
and dominoes. They taught Payne chess and let him sit
in. “Pecple over here been playin’ five and six years,”
he says, grinning a little. “They’re pretty good, too. But
1 don’t wanta be that good.”

1i the while, his case inched through the courts. 11
linois requires that the state bring an accused man
to trial within 120 days or turn him loose—a deadline
that eases the worst of the courthouse delays and the
jailhouse jam-ups that afflict other cities. But the aver-
age wait in jail still drags out to six or seven months, acca-
sionally because the state asks for more time (it can get
one 60-day extension for good cause), more often be-
cause delay can be the best defense stiategy in an
overloaded systeri. Evidence goes stale; witnesses dis-
appear or lose interest; cases pile up; prosecutors are
tempted to bargain. “You could get twenty years on this
thing,” Constantine Xinos, the assistant public defender
“who drew Donald Payue, told him when they met.
“* *Don't be in a hurry to go to trial”

G L A

“ragged semicircle with. his ‘mother,

V - déferider ~and .

. had heen tutned over to the ‘juvenile, authorities,
* Hechinger dismissed the case against-James, the dri

.- bﬁa’ry {gun) and attempted murder, and the case shog
.

.-oni display ot 4 street cormer in the middle of the ghet
. as dan ohject lesson. Buf, talking with Donald Pay,

jail life,” he says. “It seem like home now.”

“behind Judge Fitzgerald’s t_q:urt}"‘oom, and all Xinos
. to go on then.was the police réport and Payne’s pub

" Hé's cocky, Xinos thought. A bad kid. Xinos has bee

, 2 XADS - anC .
scarred old.pews. ciowded with ‘cops; withesses,: wiy

mothiers ‘and. gi]: friends jumbled uncomfortably, to 4
er,'Payné. waited /in, the lockup. until a clerk bello 5
.+ "his.narme, then stood before Judge John Hechinger i 1

the. tops, . the i

b assistant. vi}%
deferider - and listened to: the, prosecution” briey
ank. Hamilton—Payne’s alleged accomplice-hy th

kst ]

of the car, for want.of. evidence that he had had ar
thing to do with the holdup: But hé ordered Payne he
for, the grand jury. The day in court lasted, a inatter
minutes; Payne was shufled back through the lock
the nude search, the basement toopel and.into

Tole again, On- Sept. 18, word came gver that ¢
grand jury-had indicted him for attempted -armed r

gorald for trial. P e e O
"'So Payne waited some igre," and the rhythm
the regularity of the life inside crept into hig.blo
Connie Xinos, appalléd by: the surge in black .cri
thinks-it-might help a little to put one of those tiny cel

erealter was aséigned to Circuit,Judge Richard F

one begins to wonder about its power as a deterveft
Payhe was irritated by the days he spent in court; 15
Tody brings you lunch there. “I sort of got adjusted;

The Wild

Connie"Xinos disliked Donald Payne from the beg}
/ning. They mef in. October in the prisoners’ loc

deferider. questionnaire (“All 1 know is T was aive
for attempt murder on Aug. 5”)_ and that insinua
half smile. He did #, Xinos thought; all of them exs
the scared: childven and the street-wise old_pros sw
they are innocent, hut you get a feeling, And that si

it less than four years, but four ‘years in the bullpens
long time. He thinks Chicago is dying, And he th
thousands of black street kids much like Donald Pa
~his-clients—are doing the killing. .

Xinos is 30, the son of a Greek cafeteria owner
in the white Chicago suburbs, a-stumpy young bach
with quizzical eyes, a shock of straight, dark hair a
Marine Reserve pin glinting gold in the tapel of
three-piece suit, He came to the building a year o0
John Maxshall Law School, hoping for a job as an a
ant state’s attorney ("It seemed to.bé plamorou
don't get parking tickets and you carry a gin’
hungry enough for steady pay and trial experie
settle for what be could get. : :

The state’s attorney had no openings, so he went
stairs to see piublic defender Gerald Getty. “Don’t”
pay me,” he said. “Give me a dollar a year. 1 just
to work.” Getty asked him to get a letter from a D¥

Maws



T R

witteermen for forin’s sake—practically. every-

S the building from janitor to judge has some such
nnection=and hired him shortly afterward for $7,800
car to start (and $13,600 now). Xinos arrived bub-
ling with ideals, like most of the young lawyers coming

to the office, but a senior staffer on his way out took
i aside and told him: “Six months in those bullpéris
4d youll want out.*You'll go practice probate law.”
nd-now Xivios figures he was right. .

deals ‘die young in a public defender’s office. Chi-
cago’s i one of the oldest and best in the U.S,; it
ias organized in 1930; three decades before the Su-
seme Court asserted the right of the poor to counsel in
sy falony case, and its staff now numbers 68 mostly
sung and energetic lawyers. But they -remain enor-
ously overworked, paitly because trime rates keep
ing, partly because- all the defendants’ rights an:
riced. by, the High Court in the 1960s have vastly in~
ased und complicated their caseload. Xinos and his
éaguss, squeezed in four desks to a cubicle, handle
re’ than half of Clook County's yearly 3,700 critninal
ey théir clients are 70 per cent black and typically:
oot either to hite private lawyers or to make bail
ding trial. At any given time, says Xinos, "I got a
dred guys sitting over. there in County Jail wonder-
Xinos.is working ‘on my :¢asé out theré.” And he.

jwi the most Tie will be gble to do for 99 per cent of - €0
m-is “cop.them out’-—plead them guilty—“and look -

‘the best deal you can get.”
That thej':l?_i‘e’a_ﬂ i

technicali d private dé:

4 V1) k ;
iscovers that practically all his-clients come in insisting.
hat they dido’t do it. “You can almost number the sto-
5" says one-of Xinos’s colleagues, Ronald Himek 71
tked-into the alley to nrinaté and 1found the TV set.”

& fhe. Hres,". Well,” God “forbid ‘it

1 dori’t believe you, My first case. - 1 .

the guy told me he walked arotnd™ - .. |
“the TV set: So I put that on [in - - |’

judge pushed his glasses down'’ his

and said, . Fifly-two_years L have been .

sets and alloys of ‘Chicago and:I.
d set” Then he
, “hv6 you F:--ing critzy
judge, said, ‘And
fer“than heisl ¢ - - .

ois like Péijry
; —inside the building.

Tkways. “It's-our court, Xinos says, .-
Me, the prosecitors,.the judges, Wele ™ .

all frienids: 1 drink with the-prosecutors. I give the judge
Christinds present, he gives me a Christmas: present.”
nd you léarn technique. The evidence game. The lit-
ie thuches: “The defendant should smile a lot.” The big

isparities: which judge gives eighteen months for a

ife d which one gives twernty to 40 years, |
# to'makititae and the caseload work foi ‘you, “Tha -

st thing: yow want to:do is rush to trial. You _I_Et; the -

ide; Ever:

hominally fnnocent wider the law is -

reduced chafée,s O:I_"l})rﬂbéf_:lonh

And you get calluses. You discover eatly that . o
crime is black and that the bulk of ‘it-black crime
against black victims—is taken considerably less. seri-
ously than crime by anybedy, black er white, against
white victims. “There’s one kind of Taw for them,” a’
judge. told Xinos early on, “and another kind for us.” It
‘was a hard-lesson—“T was very liberal when 1 flst start- |
ed”hut “everything, even.the working vocabulary of
the building, confirmed it. You leain that a “nigger dis-
orderly” means anything up to and including: the mur-
dér of one black by another; you ledrn that & black man-

convicted of raping a black woman may well get off with

the minimum sentence (“Four to fivé years and every-
body's happy”) but a “zebra rape”~black on white—
medns certain big time. And, since’ the bulk of the rape
and murder cases you handle are black against black,
you learn to swing with the double.standdrd; tos,

Only, if you are Xinos, you begin to wonder: you -

spend your days défending black youths yon suspect ..

are guilty of violent crimes and your nights thinking that .
violence is taking over the city. “When I was a kid,” - .~

-5aYs "“a gity would stick you -up, take the money

and Tiin, Now they’ll kill you. It’s just wild. These f---ing-"
kids will kill you.” His fingers ﬁdgete‘(‘ij at a note fo him- -

self) 8
-dany B

o iy o wear a fi-iiig mask:
ut no. They-go into. places wh
g for years, they hold up guys

treet. 1's the Wild Wes




gara Falls, You can’t stop

't ‘i need . for that,
16.You really want a

. sa{s .cop out, make a.deal;
take “the shart time. “They
-ought to carve it in storie.over
= the; dopr,” an old conithouse
~hand,. then & prosecutor and
now a- judgs, told a friend
once. “NO CASE EVER GOES TO
rrisL BERE.” The People vs.
Donald Payne did get to
irial, halfway at least. But
" then his case went sour, and
the deal got sweeter, and
in the end Donald Payne
copped out, too. .
Practically everybody does:
urban justice in  America
would quite simply collapse
if even a major fraction of the
suspects who now plead
. guilty should suddenly start
“demanding jury trials. The

N

- public defénder, _
¥inos thought Payne. showld
Payne cluiig to
hroke out’?) ‘dnd-
& hestshot he .
g--his upset,

Let's Get
Oase’' -
ut of hiv grial. -

- teni to fwenty
- Bnally got . .

kept-trying to_talk hin
iiilty, jackass, you could g
inbs whisperéd. when the .

flyon. get

{ank:state’s at-
vish; teased .
. h ou Want to-plead?”
1 ipant.iny tiial, said Payne.
Tverything in the building

Parrish: ‘Il don’t want te huit the kid' °

. Payne case was only one of .,

next moining, Parrish; an -
1, worked wi '
c:lawyers sy it peopl ‘
¥ict,” he says, “but nons of that’s true in o
twelve people who- say ‘they

_pleased ‘with one of them;

_ might be sympathetic. A

g
#ithout a shopping Hg.
le gre jolly and G

listen, you're all right.”.

But Xinos.is a hunch pk
er. He ok two blapks on. {I’!
jury and was  particula

light-skinned Urban Ledg
member who looked as if §

he delilierately let one hd
hat sort on:the panel. Xint
had a point to make aAbout 1%
pistol—you “eoiilda’t click
more than once without p
ing back the slide te cock
and the hard hat locked 2
he knew guns,

That afteinoon, slowly
methodically, Parrish be
to put on his case. He ope
with the victims, and Castql] :
laid the story on the reco
“About ten after 9, the gen
man walked in . .. He ha
small-caliber pistol
edged away . . . The other
came up to me and he sall
‘Shoot him, shoot him, shd]
him’ ... [The frst yo
pointed the gun at me an




ed three times or four—at least I heard Iree.
&-the gunman—did Castelli see him in‘court?

- “Yes, I do, sir.” - R 7
““And would you point him out; please?” ‘ )
Castelli gestured toward the single table shared by
e prosecution and defense. “That,”
sonald Payne.”

" But Xinos; in his opening argument, had promised
5 alibi”Payne—his mother was prepared to testify for
im—-and now, on cross-examination, he picked skill-
wlly at Parrish’s case. Playing to his hard hat on the
rv, he asked Castelli whether the stick-up man had
ne or two hands on the gian. “Only one, sir,” said Cas-
1li. “And was that trigger pulled in rapid succession
click-click-clickP” Xinos pressed. “Yes, sir,” said Cas-
Ili, and Xinos had his pointi it takes two hands to
eep pulling the slide and clicking the. trigger. Next

ribed- the gunman-as weighing 185 pounds—30 more
ian Payne carries on his spindly 6-foot-1 frame, Payne
ad nearly botched that point by wearing. a billowy,
ape:shaped: jacket to court, buf Xinos persuaded him

fold it up and sit on it so the jurors could éee how
ony. he really ‘was, The. 30-pourid ‘misunderstanding

the People and their lawyer, Walter Pairish, were in
auble.

arrish didn’t show .it: he is a careful, phlegmatic

e cgme into it with a_ Howird law" diploma, a few

nections as counsel to and precivct cdptain foi ilie 24th
ard regular Democratic organizaton.. He figuréd on

ut he has stayed six years and seems rather comforta-
e where he is. The black kids over iu the County

guesses he would have to-gross $50,000 in private piac-

sources of the state”af his service. InvestigatorsP The
ate’s attorney has 93 to the public defaiider’s §ix. Po-
e,.the sheriff, the FBI? “All you got to:do is call.
em.” Pathology? MicroanalysisP ““Just pick - up the
one, You've got everything at your bsck.and eall:” .*

What he had in People vs: Payne was the
oys, the two cousins through whom't
acked Payng. Parrish liad hoped e woil
ut them on the stand, “It was a_risk” he
They could have hurt us. They could h

vas hghind and knew it..He needed Frank Hamiltod to
ace Payne inside the stové, James 1o connect him with

PN

is. young assistant, Joe Poduska. “That’s the

he said, “is-

ame Patrolman Joe Higgins, who remembered, under -
inos’s pointed cross-examination, that Castelli had de-

.

ndercut Castelli's identification of Payne—and sudden-
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man born to striving parents in the Chicago ghetto -
id bred to move smiling coolly through the system.-

ars’ haphazard practice: and “the right- sort “of con-
the job only as an apprenticéship for private “pragtice, B

il call 'him “The Devil” and he likes that; he fan+

ed that the edgy bostility he saw in Donald Payne's -
es,was a tribute to his-haid-guy reputation. He likes
1is pablic-law. firm, 'too. It pays him $18,000-he

tice to match that—and 1t puts’ all ‘the endrripus re- -

y could have hurt us. They could have; got.xip: -
thére and suddenly sdid Donald wasn't thiers,” Buthe . .

the' car’ and thie pistol, So, that aftefrioon, he orderedup * .
i for the Hamiltons, “We know how to seram-

" gbverngr on

Fltzg ald: ‘Like God would look if God were a judge’

iy want?” Xinos asked.
i abiouit thres to eight.”
o mid Kinos.

ift, Xinos thought;-dnd he took it to
up. “F ean_get you one to fve,” he
Xinos' thought fast, It'was a dead- _
slareice Darfow. couldi’t pull out’
or a big rattle, maybe.ten to twenty
ownstairs, ; got” the Hamiltons
Fitzperald's Kbrary, .
renibers; “and onhe ‘of them said,
an; you. told them’ yoii wéren’t there?
in I could gét him oné to five. They said,
 take it;, Dodald.” T said, ‘You may
z-om with the trial.” And he said,
<“the ‘ode to Hvé, I'm not guilty.)”
iew be would go.” - '

Fitzgerald ‘buy it? Xinos was worried.
iy & handsome 57, with a pink Irish face
er hair and, creased to smilé. “He looks
ok and acts like God would act if God
Xinos. “He dossn’t take any s—.”

a’suburban lawyer in Calumet City when Mayor
d Daley’s organization slated him for judge seven

‘yeais ago, a réward for having backed a Daley man for

en: it .was tough'to do so. Heé startod
nd hated. if: “I" thihk 1'd rdther have
90 “lashies . go_back dogn there. Jeez=<it’s a lot_
&asief to giveia guy the chair than-it is to take five kids
away from a mother,” He:is happier where he is, and he
-has made a considerable reputation in the building as a
id; isinig;. hard-working judge—no scholar but
jood. on the law. He can be stern. as
ype, but he does thisk the
i “lately. in_the dsfend-
i in. swaddling clothes,”
mdnger of bliss,” Sa' Xinos
hg udge, :__l;né_t%‘l‘d ’Pa&rllg, while
ndienge_ with . Fitzgerald,: © “
sk ety TigigRd e

ol - Euliaaden

cott mvenve .
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11925, the circular glassed-in cell blocks were the tast word in penitentiaries
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5 throug
the fre

" might give you three to eight. You better think about it.”

-But Fitzgerald agieed to talk; and the ritual began
to unfold. Xinos led Payne to the bench and announced
for-the record that they wanted to discuss pleading—“Is

that correct; Donald?” Payne mumbled, “Correct,” and,”
while he went, back to the lockup to wait, the lawyers

followed: thé judge into chambers. A bailiff closed the
door behind the. Fitzgerald sat at his desk and pulled
a- 4-hy-6 index card put of a box; he likes 16 keep his

. own notes, Pairish dropped -into a deep, leathery sofa,

his knées coming up almost to his chin. Xinos sat in a
green guest chair in a xow along the wall. There were
no outsiders, not even a cowrt stenographer. The con-
ference, not the courfroom, has hecome the real locus of
big-city criminal justice, but its business is transacted off
the record for maximum flexibility. _

Fitzgerald scanned Parrish’s prep sheet, “outlining
the state case. Xinos told kim ghumly about the Hamil-
tons, “We look beat,” he conceded. °

“Walter,” asked the judge, “what do you want?”

“I dor't want to hurt the kid,” Parrish said. “T talked
to Connie, and we thought one’to five”

hey takked about Payne’s record—his jobs, his fam-
T,ily‘, his old gas'station burglary rap, “Two years
probation,” Xinos put in hopefully, “That’s nothing.”
¥itzgerald pondered it all. He had no probation report—
there isn’t time or inanpower enough to do them except
in major cases—and no psychological work-up; sentenc-
ing in most American courts comes down to a matter of
instinct, Fitzgerald's instinets told him one to five was a
long encugh time for Payne to serve—and a wide
enough spfead to encourage him to reform and get out
early. “Up to five years,” he feels, “that’s the area of re-
hahilitation. Beyond five, I think they get saturated.”
So he made up his mind. . :
“Will he take it?” the judge asked Xinos.
“T'l go back and see,” Xinos replied. He ducked out
to the Jockup and it the offer to Payne.
“Lef’s do it,” Payne said. “Right now.” -
A light snow was falling when they brought him back
into court, grinning slightly, walking his diddybop walk.
A Dbailif led him to 2 table below Fiizgeralds high
bench. His mother slipped inio place beside him. He

_ a: nd then it was over. Fitzgerald called the jurors i

.events that had buried Donald; they sat there for

spread his fingers out on the tabletop and looked
them. The judge led him thyough the prescribed cate:
chism establishing that he undegstood what he was* doz:
ing and that no one had forced him to do it. Payne’
“yeses” were barely audible in the cavernous room.
The choice now was his, Fitzgerald told him.
could go to the pen and cooperate ind learn a brac
and come out on parole in eleven months; or he coul
“go down there and do nothing at all and sit on yo
haunches ... and you will probably be going [bac
down there for twenty or 30 years.” Payne brushed o
hand across his eyes and studiéd the tabletop, “I'm g
ing you the first break you probably ever got in yo
life,” the judge said. . .. The rest of it, Donald, is up to
you. Do you understand that?”
“Yes,” said Payne.

and dismissed them. They knew nothing of t

moment looking stunned. Xinos slipped back to the ju
room ko see them before they scattered, “But you we
ahead,” one told him,

Payne's mother walked out to a pay phone, eyes W
and flashing., “They just pressed Donnie,” she insisted
“until he said he did it,” Parrish packed up. “An hour
day—even that's punishment,” he said, “One to five
encugh.” Joe Higgins went back to Tac Unit 660. "Do
ald,” he said, “is a very lucky man,” Winston Mog
heard about it in his office at the jail. “One to five
he snorted. “S---, That’s no sentence for armed ro
bery.” Xinos went home to his apartment in the subur
“One to five,” he said. “Fantastic. Payne should go
the penitentiary. He's a bad kid, he's better off the
He's dangerous. He'll be back.”

And Payne was sulky sore. He shook hands wit
Xinos and grinned broadly when the deal went dow
but when Xinos told him later what that juror had s
—you were akead—he felt cheated. A break? “The bt
break they could have given me was letting me g
But there was nothing for him to de just then but
brooding back down to the-funnel and to jail. “Eve
body do something wrong,” he told himself. “May
my time just caught up with me.”

THE




- ou can write to your lawyer, your preacher and six
Yothel" people, the sergeant was saying, only re-
member—your letters are censured so watch what you
say. No. 69656, born Donald Payne, sat half listening
in the front row ih his gray prison coveralls, his eyes
idling over the chapel wall from the flag to the sunny
poster—GoOD MORNING wonrLD. Nothing controversial

“Let’s keep this personal, fellas, your parents get a lot of
this on TV.” No-sex either—“Lef’s keep this down' td
personal matters, fellds, we're riot in a Sunday school
class but let’s keep our hands above the table.” No dou-

~don't risk your mail privileges by breaking the rules.
“The more mail you get, the easier it will be:for you,”
the sergeant was saying.. “It gets depressing in hiere.”.

shipped with sixteen - other County Jail inmates to
Joliet-prison, a 112-year-old yellow-stone fortress on the

transfer, typically, was accidental: Payne was to have
been held in jail until this month, when he is dye in

for burglary, but the papers got mixed up and he was
bused out eaxly, He didn’t really mind, since by then he
hated the jail so badly that even the pen seemed pref-
erable.
disgnostic center, drey his number and 'his bagpy
coveralls, was stripped, showered and shorn and began
four to six weeks of testing to see which prison he would
it into best arid what if dnything it could do for him.
Coveralls aren’t much, but Payne, sharp, flipped the

Halfway down his chest. Cool. Good morning, world.
Except in this world, as the sergeant of the guard
said, #t gets depressing. Hlinois’s prisons, like most of

pegléct until Richard B. Ogilvie made them a campaign
1ss0e ab some hazg.rd' in his 1968 gubeérnatorial cam-
paign and got elected. Ogilvie since has trusted the
problerii to i new director of corrections, Peter Ben-
“singer, the 34-yéar-old. heir to the Brunswick Corp.
.money and position, and Bensinger—an energetic. be-
ginner—has put Joliet and its neighbor, Stateville, under

has begun upgrading the guard force, putling new emi-
phasis_ on correction as against punishment -and doing
away with some of fhe pettiest dehumanizing practices;
‘oW, for- example, they no longer shave d man’s body
hair.off,when he atiives, and prisoners are called fo the
yisiting room. by naris, not by number. “We've tdken
yihing else from the man,” says Stateville’s 33-year-
d warden, John Twomey. “If we take his name, too,
ow can he feel he's-a worthwhile human being?” - %

ted from his bunk at 6 a., féd breakfast

tainvilie, “sincé thie prisons still: lack .pr
ugh:6: make e ‘of - what the tests tell

e is ‘consigped to his bars and’hi
&E i

“dered
about prison in your letters, the sergeant wag saying, .

“bor and’
- chaiice and the tenacity of two policemen; was jailed for
~_want, of money “while better-off men charged with

bletalk, no jive talk, fo hép talk, no profanity. And fellas

Payne had been marchéd aboard a black sheriff’s bus -
by early light only a few days before dnd had been -

Des Plaines River 40 miles southwest of Chicago. The .

. and prisons in Ame!

court on charges of having violated his old probation = - poning crimg than 4

And g0, on Feb. 5, he checked into Joliet’s

‘colldr rakishly up in back and left the front unbuttoned ¢

America’s;, had fallen over the years into a sorry stafe of -

the manapement of reform-minded pros. The new team -

t money is short and reform painfully slow. “We've-
_ahead .about 50 years,” says- Joliet’s: black. -

rdén, Horbert Séott. “We're now tip to about 1850.." .-

nd.1850 dies hard. Donald Payne, 4 child of the ity

(10 and dinner at 3 and Tocked: bick in his
fore -sundow. The:language of: the place ton-:
ralued humanity: men are.-“tickets,” meals-. -
The battery of 1Q, pefsonality and aptitude -
_undeigoing at Joliet are -exhaustive but of .

:'P'm on My Way Home'

psychologist explained wryly. A visitor asked how the
men respond to this lesson.. “I imagine,” said the psy- -
chologist, "that they think, ‘F--- the {%ag’.” '

Tt i here that society hds its last chance with the
Donald Paynes—and here that the last chance is squan-
dered gt Teast’ as 'often as not. The lesson of People
vs. Payrie and ‘Sountless cases like it is that the Ameri-

can “system” of justice is less a system than a paich-

W f procéss and improvisation, of Sisyphean la-
protean innér molives. Payne was arrested on

e’ crimes went free on bail; wds convicted out.of
urt and géntenced in.a few minutes’ bargaining among

. ‘overworked: men who knew hardly anything about him.
It cannét be-said that justice miscairied in People vs.

Payne, singe the evidence powerfully suggpsts his guilt
and the:result Wwas a-pendlly in some-xelution, however -

- uneven, to the offense. But neither- was justice’ wholl
 §eived—not if the end of justice i5-more than the roug

one-to-one balancing of punishriiprits with crimes:. = )

.The punishment miost commguly available is"prison,
havé ‘doné fai: bettéi' at post-
sveriting or deterringg it Joliet is -
a- ‘way” Payhé. -He may wind uji‘at Pontiac,
where Thost younger offendeis do’ their time; he would
prefer the company of older men at Stateville, a vintage

1995 maxifnum-security prison with cells ranged in

enormous glassed-in-circles arourid a central guard tow-
er. He says that in either event he'will stick to his cell
and go for.early- parole. “Whien I get out,” he-told his
mother otice it jail, “T'll be in church .every-day.” Yet
the odds do not necessarily favor this outcome: though
the Mlinois prisons have made progress toward cutting
down on recidivism, a fifth to a third of their alumni get
in trouble again before they have been out even a year.
“Well,” said Payne, smiling that half-smile ai a visitor
during his first days as No. 63656, “I'm startin’ my tine
now and I'm oh my way home.” But his time will be a
long arid bleak -one, and;-unless:-luck and will dnd the
Tast-chance processes of justice all wotk for him, Donald
Payne may be home right-now, .

A
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Between a Rock and a Hard Case

Courts for repeat offenders dispense tough, swift justice

The defendant, 33, stood accused of five rapes, with victims ranging from a
teen-ager to a young mother walking with her children in Chicago's Lincoln
Park to a 61-year-old woman. After a jury found him guilty of the one rape
he was actually on trial for, Judge Robert Sklodowski pronounced him a
"rape bomb, ready to explode at any time." Sklodowski handed down the
maximum sentence: 60 years, 30 of which must be served before he can be
paroled. Such stern penalties are rare from many judges, but they are
standard procedure in three courfrooms on the fifth floor of a dingy gray
stone building on Chicago's South Michigan Avenue. Its nickname: "the
Rock."

With few exceptions, only the most hardened criminals end up at the Rock
which is more formally known as the Repeat Offender Team. To get there,
a defendant generally must have been convicted of at least one felony and
be charged either with a violent crime or with an offense, like armed
robbery, where there is a threat of serious personal injury. There is never
any shortage of candidates. Chief Criminal Judge Richard Fitzgerald, who
oversees the program, estimates that 65% of the convicts in Illinois prisons
are repeat offenders.

3

Robert Raymond, for example, is a convicted rapist who has spent most of
the past 23 years behind bars. Last month he was at the Rock fighting rape
and robbery charges and facing a possible sentence of as much as 74 years.
Raymond, 45, knew the odds were against him: in 90% of the Rock's cases,
the defendant either pleads guilty or is convicted, and prison sentences are
dealt out 93% of the time. Says Judge Sylvester Close, one of Sklodowski's
two colleagues at the Rock: "I'm no bleeding heart for any of these people
who rob, rape or murder." : '

The Chicago program is one of a hundred or 0 set up across the U.S. in
recent years in response to studies showing that a relatively few hard-core
criminals are responsible for a disproportionate amount of crime. The first
.~ -was New York City's major offense bureau (MOB) in The Bronx district

¢ » attorney's office, which began in 1973, MOB'S success inspired the Law
.. " Enforcement Assistance Administration (LEAA) to invest $30 million of

 http://www.time. com/time/magazine/printout/0,8816,950449,00 hirl 12/1/2006
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federal money in 50 similar projects over a five-year period starting in
1975. Since then, 10,000 criminals who committed a total of 80,000
offenses have been sentenced under those projects to an average of 14 years
in prison. ‘

High conviction rates and long sentences are not the only features that set
such programs apart; they are also swift. Cases in MOB move from -
arraignment to disposition in an average of 97 days, compared with around
400 days in the regular court system. One reason is the policy of assigning
a prosecutor to each case for its duration instead of having it passed from
one to another at various stages. Some programs, like Chicago's, act more
quickly because the judges' case loads are lighter. Also important is their
refusal to abide delays. Judge Thomas Fitzgerald, the third member of the
Rock's troika, says he tries to limit continuances to 30 days, while judges
elsewhere often allow 45 or 50 days.

Naturally, many defense attorneys have misgivings about this brand of
judicial hardball. "1 still think part of the presumption of innocence is taken
away," says Chicago Lawyer Jack Rodgon. "Every time I get a case at the
Rock, 1 say to myself, 'Oh God, here I go again.' " Nevertheless, Rodgon
concedes that some of the defendanis deserve their harsh sentences and
says he can "live with" the court. Others are more critical. John Ackerman,
dean of the National College of Criminal Defense Lawyers and Public
Defenders in Houston, charges that repeat-offender programs are "just
trying to hammer a whole lot harder; they're just storing [the prisoners].
That's just postponing the date they commit another offense." To the
boosters of such programs, that is precisely the point,
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CBA President Terrence M. Burns welcomed CBA First Vice
president Jennifer T. Nijman and CBA Executive Director Terrence

8. Murphy to the event.

‘CBA Prestdent Terrence M. Burns (center) and Chicago Bar

, _cqvgr_pf.the September 2001 lssue of the CBA Record 1o U.S,
Supreme Court Justice John Paul Stevens. The publication’s cover
‘pdld tribute to the second annual “Justice Sievens Awards”

Eoundation President Eileen M. Letis presented a plague of the

- |

cBA President Terrence M. Burns |
(standing, left) and Chicago Bar 7%
Foundation President Efleen M. Letts
s (standing, right) jeined U.S. Supreme
Court Justice John Paul Stevens (seated,
center} in honoring this year's winners of
the annual “U.S, Supreme Court Justice
John Paul Stevens Awards™: (seated,
from left) Hon. Prentice H. Marshall, Hon,
Richard J. Fitzgerald, Dofores K. Hanna,
and Earl L. Neal, and {standing) Robert A,
Heiman and Alexander Polikoff.

ustice John Paul Stevens greets Chief Judge

U.S. Supreme Court d f
he Circuit Court of Cook County.

Timothy C. Evans of t

U.S. Supreme Court Justice John Paul Stevens (center) met wih
geveral prominentattarneys from fﬁhlcago’s legal community, inc{udm,g A
(from left) Karina Ayala-Berme|o, !i’}l? Chicago Bar Foundation
Director of Community gervices; Philip H, Corboy, Chicago Publi¢
Library Commissioner Mary A. Dempsey, who s a member of the €
Board of Managers, and past CBA Prgmdent&ohn A. Simon.



